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1 Zahir Raihan Hiron Businessman
Dhanmondi, 

Dhaka
1

Nine persons introduced themselves as members of RAB-2, showed their identity cards to the guard of Hiron‘s house and 

arrested Hiron. Before leaving with Hiron they told his mother and wife that he was being taken just for interrogation. Since 

then, his whereabouts remain unknown.

1 29.06.2009 Samakal, 10.11.2009

2
Mahmudul Haque 

Rony

Joint secretary of 

AL student wing 

of Khilgaon

Kafrul, Dhaka 1  On the way home from Kafrul to Basabo, Rony was allegedly abducted by RAB. His whereabouts still remain unknown. 1 27.10.2009 Samakal, 10.11.2009

3 Mohammad Selim Fruit Trader
Kapasia, 

Gazipur
1

In a press conference, Nazma Begum, wife of Mohammad Selim alleged that on February 18, 2010 Mohammad Selim went to 

visit his friend Moinul Islam‘s relative's house situated at Jaginno Chandpur village, Kapasia. On February 19, 2010 at dawn 

members of RAB-04 arrested Mohammad Selim along with Moinul Islam and Mohammad Ali from that house. After getting 

information of Selim‘s arrest, family members communicated with RAB-04 office. RAB denied arresting Mohammad Selim. 

RAB informed that Selim‘s friend Moinul was arrested in the murder case of ABM Faruk Hossain, President of Cantonment 

unit of student wing of Awami League. Another arrestee, Mohammad Ali was released. Selim's family members went to 

Kapasia Police Station to file a general diary (GD) but police refused to record one. Nazma Begum also added (at the 

conference) that Mohammad Ali with two others was brought to Dhaka after arrest. They were blindfolded at that time. Till 

2.30 am the three men were together. Later, Moinul Islam was transferred to Cantonment Police Station and Mohammad Ali 

was released the next morning. Mohammad Ali could not give any information about Mohammad Selim, said Nazma Begum. 

Mohammad Selim‘s mother said that there are no cases, not even a GD, filed against Selim in any Police Station.

1 19.02.2010 Amar Desh, 28.03.2010

4 Akbar Sarder Timber trader Madaripur 1

On March 19, 2010 at around 4:30pm, Mohammad Akbar Ali Shorder (28), a resident of College Para in Salondo Village, 

Thakurgaon, was arrested by members of RAB-5 from a road in front of the Biswa Islami Mission Mosque, as alleged by his 

wife, Parvin Akter. It is also alleged that Sri Chandro Bipin Shorker (36), an inhabitant of Nola Para of Salondo Village, was 

also arrested by the RAB. On March 20, 2010, Bipin returned home at around 10am, however Akbar did not. Akbar‘s wife 

tried to file a General Diary (GD) at Thakurgaon Police Station, but the police refused to record it. Akbar‘s hometown was in 

Durail of the village of Dasherchor in Madaripur District. He was the son of late Mohammad Motaleb Ali Shorder, and was a 

wood trader by occupation.

1 19.03.2010

5 Ayub Sarder
An inhabitant of 

Rampura

Bonosree, 

Dhaka
1 1 17.05.2010

6 Abdur Rahman  Businessman
Bonosree, 

Dhaka
1 1 17.05.2010

7  Abu Salam Cloth Trader 1 1

8 Sajal Salam's nephew 1 1

On May 17 Ayub Ali and his companion Abdur Rahman disappeared. Akbar‘s brother Ayub Ali kept searching for his brother 

and even arranged a press conference and other events.  The family claim that their rivals arranged the abduction using RAB 

members.

14.05.2010

Pashchim 

Shahi Moholla, 

Kutubpur union, 

Fatullah Police 

Station

In a press release, Jahanara Begum, wife of Sajal alleged that on May 14, 2010 at around 1.00 am her husband and his 

maternal uncle Abu Salam were taken away by RAB in a pick-up van, from their house at Pashchim Shahi Moholla, Kutubpur 

Union, Fatullah Police Station. RAB however denied the allegation of arresting them. On May 20, 2010 family members filed a 

general diary (GD) at Fatullah Police Station. The investigation officer of the GD, Sub-Inspector Ataur Rahman, told them that 

Sajal and Abu Salam were both listed criminals with many cases filed against them. Jahanara claimed that those who came 

that night was in the black uniforms of RAB. They also had arms with them.  

Kaler Kantho and Ittefaq, 

24.05.2010

Description

Allegedly disappeared by

Date of 

returning/fou

nd dead

Reportedly Still Disappeared from January 2009 -  June 2024

Date of 

Incident
Source and Date SL Name and Age  Identity 

Area from 

where the 

persons were 

missing

Information gathered by local 

HRDs



9 Chowdhury Alam

BNP leader and 

Councilor of 56 

number ward of 

Dhaka City 

Corporation 

Dhaka 1

Mohammad Chowdhury Alam (66), Councilor of 56 number ward of Dhaka City Corporation and a resident of 315/C Khilgaon, 

was abducted from in front of Metro Garden at 75, Indira Road on June 25, 2010. His family alleged that he was taken away 

in a micro-bus, by several men who were in plain clothes and identified themselves as law enforcement officers. His son, Abu 

Syed Chowdhury Himu, claimed that, Mohammad Chowdhury Alam was abducted by law enforcement officers and in 

response, on the 4th of July, 2010, he filed a Habeas Corpus petition at the High Court Division of the Supreme Court, before 

the bench of Justice H.M Shamshuddin Chowdhury and Justice Sheikh Md. Zakir Hossain. The Court, without issuing any 

rule on the habeas corpus, wanted to give the police a directive. As a result, the concerned lawyers for Abu Syed Chowdhury 

Himu, decided to withdraw the writ petition. On 18th July, 2010, Abu Syed Chowdhury Himu, again filed a writ petition before 

the division bench of Justice Mamunun Rahman and Justice Syeda Afsar Zahan. Having taken the matter into consideration, 

on 19th July, 2010, the court ordered the Police IGP and RAB DG to immediately investigate the matter and take effective 

steps. The Court also ordered a report to be submitted on Mohammad Chowdhury Alam‘s abductors.

1 25.06.2010
Information gathered by local 

HRDs

10
Mizanur Rahman 

Sumon
Businessman

Mahimaganj, 

Gaibandha
1

In a press release Surovi Akhter, wife of Mizanur Rahman Sumon, alleged that on April 27, 2010 members of RAB-04 took 

him away from Mahimaganj Bazar, Gobindaganj. After the incident his family communicated with RAB-04 but the latter denied 

arresting Mizanur Rahman Sumon. His wife added that there is fabricated case filed against him. She also alleged that his 

rivals used members of law enforcement agency to make him disappear.

1  27.04.2010
Samakal and Kaler Kantho 

01.05.2010

11 Nazrul Islam

Secretary of BNP 

(Boalkhali 

Chittagong) and 

UP Chairman

 Joydevpur, 

Gazipur
1

 In Gazipur 7/8 persons introduced themselves as members of a law enforcement agency and abducted him from his 

microbus. He was coming to Dhaka from Chittagong. On the way, at Chourastta of Joydevpur, Gazipur he was disappeared. 

Nazrul Islam's family claimed that RAB members took him from Gazipur. Still his whereabouts remain unknown.

1 9.11.2010
Amar Desh 11.11.2010   and 

Amar Desh 30.08.2011

12
Monir Hossain 

Shovon (30)

Former Co-

organizing 

Secretary of 

Chatra Dal of 

Uttarathana unit

Mohanagar 

Natya Mancha, 

Gulistan 

1

Mohammad Shahidullah said that his brother Monir Hossain Shovon was Co-organizing Secretary of Chatra Dal of Uttara 

thana unit. There were some cases filed against him due to his political affiliation. Besides politics, Monir was involved with 

mobile phone accessories business. His shop was at 3/4 Techno showroom in the 3rd floor of Gulistan Shopping Centre., 

Dhaka. On 21 September 2010 at around 11:00pm, Monir‘s wife, Laboni Akter called Shahidullah and told that Monir informed 

Laboni over mobile phone at around 6:30pm that he was going to participate in a political program of BNP at Mohanagar 

Natya Mancha which is a place where now-a-days different political programs take place) at Gulistan and after finishing the 

program, he supposed to return home within 9:00pm but did not return and Monir‘s phone found switched off when she tried 

at 9:30pm. After hearing from Laboni, Shahidullah started searching Monir in every possible place. But could not find him. On 

the next day when Shahidullah asked some hawkers near the Gulistan Shopping Centre, they told him that at around 9:00pm, 

some people in plainclothes picked a man in front of Mohanagar Natya Mancha into a white microbus and went away. At 

around 1:00am, Laboni found her husband‘s mobile switched on and called. At that time, one person pretended to be Monir 

told her that he will return home soon. However, she was sure that the person on the other side of the phone was not Monir. 

Seven to eight days later, Shahidullah with the help of mobile network operator agency tried to track the phone location and 

found the latest location at Sector- 1, Uttara which is near the RAB headquarter. They suspected that his brother was 

arrested by RAB. Then he contacted some RAB officials including Major Mohiuddin, Assistant Commissioner (AC) Jahangir. 

They told Shahidullah not to go anywhere, not even to police station regarding his brother‘s disappearance. RAB was working 

with the incident and Shahidullah will get his brother back very soon. Shahidullah kept contacting the RAB for six months but 

did not get any result. One day, Shahidullah asked the security guard of RAB head quarter main gate about his brother and 

he told him that your brother had very good breakfast, so don‘t worry. After six months, the RAB officials told Shahidullah that 

1 21/09/2010 Field visit by HRDs 

13 Abul Haider
Secretary of BNP, 

ward no 21
Dhaka 1

Abul Haider is the Secretary of BNP, ward no 21 of Barisal and also worked at a pharmacy named Remon Drugs. On 

December 23, 2010 he headed towards Dhaka for official purposes with his Assistant Kabir Hossain. They went to book a 

room at Jakaria Hotel at Mohakhali. He sent his Assistant to upstairs of the hotel to see the room while he was waiting at the 

downstairs. At that time, a black vehicle came there and some men introduced themselves as RAB picked him up. Still his 

whereabouts remain unknown. Family members alleged that his rivals used law enforcement agency to pick him up over land 

dispute with him.

1 23.12.2010 Jugantor, 26.12.2010

14
Yusuf Alam Sujon 

(31)
A businessman Dhaka 1

Sujon‘s brother Mahabub informed that on March 24, 2010 Sujon went to in front of a restaurant at Farmgate. From there 

members of RAB-02 allegedly picked him up.
1 29/3/2010 bd news24.com, 31.12.2010

15 Humayun Khan BNP leader

Malibag 

Chowdhury 

para, Dhaka

1

On November 23, 2010 at around 9.30 am he started from his house (house no-45/KA, Dhalkanagar, Faridabad) to 1093 

numbered house at Chowdhurypara, Malibagh of one Mofijul. From there, a group of people claiming to be members of 

detective branch (DB) of police in plainclothes picked him up. After that, his whereabouts remain unknown. In this incident, 

Humayun‘s younger brother filed a case with Rampura Police Station on December 23, 2010. 

1 23.11.2010
Amar Desh 20.10.2011 and 

22.12.2011



16
Tareq Uddin Ahmed 

(34)
Businessman

Sutrapur, 

Dhaka
1

Mamunur Rashid claimed that there is no allegation against his younger brother Tareq Uddin Ahmed at any police station. 

Tareq Uddin Ahmed is the owner of Colour Plus Garment situated at East Bengal Market, Sadarghat area. On April 8, 2011 

there was a reception party held after his elder brother‘s marriage ceremony at Lalkuthi Forashganj Club Community Centre, 

Sutrapur. He attended the program there. At around 4.00 pm a microbus came in front of the community center. At that time 

Tareq was in front of the community center. They stopped the microbus and dragged him into the microbus. They were six to 

seven in numbers and they carried arms. The present people asked them about their identity. Those people introduced 

themselves as members of RAB. Later, family members communicated with RAB-10 office and went to different offices of law 

enforcement agency but could not find him. On April 9, 2010 family members filed a general diary (GD) with Sutrapur Police 

Station. On the other hand, Commanding Officer SM Kamal Hossain of RAB-10 told that RAB did not arrest Tareq. If any 

complaint rose, they will investigate the matter. Sub- Inspector Al- Mamun of Sutrapur Police Station said that they are 

investigating the matter.

1 8.4.11
Amar Desh and Manabzamin 

10.4.11 1

17
Mohammad Jamal 

Ahmed (32) 

General Secretary 

of the Youth wing 

of Awami League 

of ward no. 10 of 

Tongi Police 

Station 

Cherag Ali 

area, Tongi, 

Gazipur

1

Mohammad Jamal Ahmed (32) is an inhabitant of the Amtali Keranitek slum in Tongi Model Thana of Gazipur district. At 

around 2 pm on 4 May 2011, he went to the ‗Dhaka Electric Supply Company‘ situated in Cheragali Squib Road for a new 

electricity connection for his home. When he approached the gate of the Company, some people identifying themselves as 

law enforcement officers, took him away. Jamal is a vital witness in the murder of Ahsanullah Master, former Member of 

Parliament (MP) from Gazipur. His family suspected that the officers of Rapid Action Battalion (RAB) in collusion with the 

accused in the murder case, kidnapped him.

1 04.05.2011

Information collected by 

HRD; Amader Shomoy 

22.5.11

18
Salauddin(22) and 

Wajet Ullah (30)

Silver ornament 

makers

Bhakurta 

village, Savar, 

Dhaka

2

On May 18, 2011 Salauddin and Wajet were allegedly picked up by Detective Branch (DB) of police. Salauddin was silver 

ornaments maker and Wajet is his brother-in-law. Local people and relatives said that, an extortion case was filed against 

Salauddin. He was on bail. They suspected that his enemies used law enforcement agency to pick him up over previous 

enmity. On May 22, 2011 two separate general diaries were filed with Savar and Darus Salam Police Station.  

2 18.05.2011 Amar Desh 23.05.2011

19
Sagor Ahmmed 

Liton (35)
Businessman

Tejgaon 

flyover, Dhaka
1

Sagor Ahmmed Liton (35) lived at 48 Shekhertek, Adabor, Dhaka. He used to do clothes business at Gulistan. On May 10, 

2011 he and his friend Khorshed Alam went to Tejgaon area to meet with someone. After finishing the task, they were 

walking through Tejgaon flyover towards Bijoy Sarani. At that time, a microbus came there and stopped there. They 

introduced themselves as members of RAB and took Sagor into the microbus. At that time Khorshed asked them about the 

reason of taking Sagor. They replied that there was a case filed against Sagor and threatened Khorshed that if he talks more 

then he will also be taken with them. Salma, wife of Sagor said that they contacted with different police station but did not find 

Sagor. Then they went to RAB Office at Uttara and talked with Commander Sohel. Commander Sohel informed that members 

of RAB did not arrest him. A general diary (GD) is filed with Tejgaon Industrial Police Station in this regard. The G.D is 

numbered as- 44, date- 12/05/2011. The investigation Officer of the G.D Sub-Inspector Mohammad Shamsul Alam of 

Tejgaon Industrial Police Station told that they are investigating the matter but did not find any clue. Still his whereabouts are 

unknown.

1 10.05.2011 Kaler Kantho 27.07.2011

20 Ashabur Rahman School teacher

Outside of 

Central jail, 

Dhaka 

1

Police arrested Ashabur and Salauddin on 26 February 2011. They were granted bail from jail on 10 May. Eye-witnesses near 

the jail gate said that when RAB-10 arrested Pakistan civilian Shabib they also arrested Ashabur Rahman and Salauddin. 

After that Ashabur and Salauddin were disappeared. But operation officer Fazle Rabbi of RAB-10 said that they had not 

arrested anyone from the jail gate on 10 May.

1 10.05.2011 Nayadiganto 16.05.2011

21 Salauddin Student of class V

Outside of 

Central jail, 

Dhaka 

1

Police arrested Ashabur and Salauddin on 26 February 2011. They were granted bail from jail on 10 May. Eye-witnesses near 

the jail gate said that when RAB-10 arrested Pakistan civilian Shabib they also arrested Ashabur Rahman and Salauddin. 

After that Ashabur and Salauddin were disappeared. But operation officer Fazle Rabbi of RAB-10 said that they had not 

arrested anyone from the jail gate on 10 May.

1 10.05.2011 Nayadiganto 16.05.2011

22
Delwar Hossain 

alias Data (30)

A trader of  

recycle material

 Mostofapur 

area, 

Gachabaria 

Bazar, Sadar 

upazila, 

Madaripur

1

Delwar Hossain (30) a trader of scrap paper, metal and plastic, is the son of Bonde Ali Mia and Shinavan Bibi who lives in 

Kolatola, Ward 3 of Shantinogor in Madaripur municipality. The family alleges that at around 9.30 pm on 23 June 2011 Delwar 

was taken away by some people who identified themselves as members of the Rapid Action Battalion (RAB), from the boat 

terminal of Gachbaria market at Mostofapur in Shodor Upazila. There were witnesses who saw Delwar being taken, but who 

refrained from approaching the men, after being shown RAB identity cards.

1 23.06.2011
Information gathered by 

HRDs 



23
Mohammad Nur 

Hasan Hiru 

Organizing 

Secretary of 

Chatra Dal of 

Uttarathana unit 

and cloth 

business

Highway 

restaurant Time 

Square, 

Miabazar, 

Chauddogram, 

Cumilla 

1

Mohammad Amzad Hossain said that his brother Mohammad Nur Hosan Hiru was Organizing Secretary of Chatra Dal of 

Uttarathana unit. There were some cases filed against him due to his pro-opposition political affiliation. Besides politics, Nur 

Hosan Hiru was involved with cloth business. His shop was at Gawsia Market at Mirpur Road, Dhaka. On 20/06/2011 at 

around 12:30pm, Nur Hosan Hiru along with his brother/ cousin Mohammad Ali Hossain, friends Mohammad Helal and 

Mohammad Jalal were going to Chittagong from Dhaka by a bus of Hanif Paribahan. At around 4:30pm, the bus reached 

Miabazar, Chauddogram, Cumilla and gave the passengers a journey break of highway restaurant Time Square. Mohammar 

Ali Hossain went to the toilet, and by this time 7/8 plain clothed men approached towards them and detained Nur Hosan Hiru. 

Their physical appearance looked like members of law enforcement agencies. The men quickly took Nur Hosan Hiru into a 

Mitsubishi microbus and went away. Since then, the whereabouts of Nur Hosan Hiru remain unknown. Nur Hosan Hiru‘s 

friends Helal and Jalal, the owner of the restaurant, manager of the restaurant, workers of the restaurant and the driver-helper 

of the bus of Hanif Paribahan were the eyewitness of the incident. On that day, Ali Hossain, filed a GD with Chauddogram 

Police Station.GD no. 657. Amzad Hossain informed that when the incident took place, Ali Hossain was told to contact RAB- 

11. But RAB 11 denied Nur Hosan Hiru‘s arrest. Later, Ali Hossain contacted Major Zia through a person (he could not tell the 

name) he told him to go Dhaka cantonment and also told to give money for handing Nur Hosan Hiru over to the police station. 

On the next day, Ali Hossain contacted Major Zia over phone and asked about his brother. Major Zia told him give money so 

that they will send his brother to RAB 1 soon. Later, Ali Hossain gave 10,00,000 taka to Major Zia through his man and then 

he suggested going to RAB 1. Amzad went to RAB 1 and found Sadekur Rahman Hiru not Nur Hosan Hiru. Then Ali Hossain 

contacted Major Zia again and informed him that the person named Hiru in RAB 1 was not his brother. Major Zia assured him 

about handing Nur Hosan Hiru over to Dakkhinkhan Police Station and told to arrange more money. However, they did not do 

so. 

1 20/06/2011 
Field visit by HRDs in 

September 2019

24

Habibur Rahman 

Hawladar Habib 

(48)

Fish-monger

Betbunia 

village, 

Bohorbunia 

union, 

Morolganj 

upazila, 

Bagerhat

1

Habibur Rahman Haoladar Habib (48) is a fishmonger of Gora, Katakhal area of West Betbunia village under Morelganj 

Police Station of Bagerhat district. At around 5.30 am on 6 July 2011, the police of local Police Station, Armed Police 

Battalion, and District Detective Branch (DB) Police, with the help of some local people, arrested him from his house. 

Morelganj police denied involvement in the arrest of Habib and said that members of the opponent party may have abducted 

him wearing police uniform.

1 06.07.2011

Information gathered by 

HRDs https://odhikar.org/wp-

content/uploads/2011/07/fact-

finding-disappearances-

Habibur-Rahman-Haoladar-

2011-eng.pdf and Amar 

Desh 16.07.2011

25 Tapan Das (40) Businessman
Old town, 

Dhaka
1

At around 8 pm on 3 August 2011 Tapan Das (40), the son of Tulsi Das and Rajoshri Das of 19/1 Nobinchondra Gowshami 

Road of Shyampur, Dhaka, was arrested by a few people who identified themselves as Detective Branch (DB) of Police from 

KB Road of the Mil Barrack area, Gendaria. His family informed that since his arrest, Tapan Das has been missing.

1 03.08.2011

Nayadiganto 05.08.2011 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs

26
 K M Shamim 

Akhtar (36)

Former Chhatra 

Union leader

Purana Paltan, 

Dhaka
1

On September 29, 2011 at around 8.15 in the morning K M Shamim Akhtar (36) was arrested by the members of the law 

enforcing agency from 6/1, Purana Palton Line, Dhaka-1000. He was the son of Khan Mobarak Hossain and Zohra Akhtar; 

and a resident of 12/4, Purana Paltan Line (5th floor), of Dhaka Metropolitan City. Shamim‘s family alleged that his 

whereabouts remain unknown from the day he was picked up by the law enforcing agency.

1 29.09.2011

Information gathered by 

HRDs https://odhikar.org/wp-

content/uploads/2011/09/fact-

finding-disappearances-KM-

Shamim-Akhtar-2011-

eng.pdf  and Jugantor 

01.10.2011

27 Sirajul Islam Mamun Not reported Doniar, Dhaka 1
Mamun's sister Shilpi alleged that plainclothes law enforcement agency members abducted him and his whereabouts are still 

unknown.
1 17.09.2011 Jugantor 08.10.2011

28
Haji Nur Mohmmad 

(75)

President of 

Awami League 

Ward No. 41 of 

Dhaka

Savar, Dhaka 1

Haji Nur Mohammad is president of ward no. 41 of Dhaka of Awami League. Haji Nur Mohmmad‘s daughter Swapna filed a 

general diary with Savar Police Station. Where she mentioned that on October 19, 2011 at around 1.00 am 20-25 people in 

plainclothes came to Haji Nur Mohmmad‘s House at Palpara, Katlapur, Savar. They broke the main doors of the house and 

picked him up. At that time, two jeeps were waiting in front of the house. However, neighbor‘s informed that ―RAB‖ was 

written on those two jeeps. However, Haji Nur Mohammad was an accused of a murder case of Fazlul Haque, general 

secretary of ward no. 41 of Dhaka of Awami League. After the incident, they communicated with RAB members but they 

denied the allegation. Still now, his whereabouts remain unknown.

1 19.10.11
Samakal  21.10.2011 and 

Prothom Alo 22.10.2011

29
Sarwar Jahan Babul 

(29)

Youth wing of AL  

leader of 

Sonagazi upazila, 

Feni

Fakirapol area, 

Dhaka
1

On October 26, 2011 Sarwar Jahan Babul went to Dhaka for securing bail from the High Court Division of the Supreme Court. 

Then he went to Fakirapul area for searching hotel to stay at Dhaka. While he reached in front of hotel Asor, a group of 

people after introducing themselves as members of police detained him and picked him up into the microbus. At that time, 

Iqbal Bahar Faisal, younger brother of Sarwar Jahan Babul was with him. He later told the incident to other family members. 

On October 27, 2011 Abdur Rahim Manik, elder brother of Sarwar filed a general diary (GD) with Mitijhil Police Station. Abdur 

Rahim and other family members waited for three days. Later, on October 29, 2011 filed an abduction case with Motijhil 

Police Station.

1 26.10.2011

Jai Jai Din 02.11.2011; Kaler 

Kantho 10.11.2011; and 

Amar Desh 08.12.2011

30
Shamim Hasan 

Sohel

Master's student 

of Dhaka 

University and 

Information and 

Research 

Hatirpool, 

Dhaka
1 His family claimed that plainclothes RAB-3 took Shamim. Still his whereabouts are unknown. 1 28.11.2011

31 Masum Hossain

Activist of student 

wing of BNP and 

Businessman 

Hatirpool, 

Dhaka
1 Masum's wife Hawa Begum claimed that plainclothes RAB picked up him. Still his whereabouts are unknown. 1 28.11.2011

Ittefaq 09.12.2011, New Age, 

10.12.2011 and Prothom Alo 

18.12.11



32 Guljar Mia Businessman

Taltoli bazar, 

Palash upazila, 

Narsinghdi

1

Eyewitnesses said Guljar was allegedly picked up by plain clothed RAB in front of his shop at Taltoli bazar in a white 

microbus. However, a uniformed RAB team with their vehicle waiting near 100 yards from the incident place. His whereabouts 

are still unknown. After the incident, family members went to RAB-11 Narsingdhi camp but they denied the allegation. Guljar's 

father Buruj Mia filed a GD at Polash Police Station on November 12, 2011.

1 05.11.2011 Kaler Kantho 20.12.2011

33

Sobhan Khan (19), 

Rubel Khan (23), 

Belayet Khan (23), 

Fayez Hawladar 

(23) and Kaiyum 

Munshi (32)

Madrassa 

students and cell 

phone 

businessmen

Maligram, 

Kumarpoti 

Dewra road, 

Bhanga 

upazila, 

Faridpur

5

Eyewitness Md. Ashaduzzaman alleged that a group of six people, claiming themselves as personnel of Khulna Detective 

Branch of Police, picked Sobhan Khan, Rubel Khan, Belayet Khan, Fayez Hawladar and Kaiyum Munshi up in a white 

microbus around 4:30pm on 6.12.11. Still their whereabouts are unknown.

5 06.12.2011

Samakal 16.12.2011; 

Prothom Alo and Daily Star 

17.12.2011 

34 Al Mokaddas

4th year student 

of LL.B 

department and 

actvist of Shibir 

Al Mokaddas and Waliullah were allegedly picked up by RAB and DB Police. Their whereabouts are still remained unknown. 1

Information gathered by 

HRDs https://odhikar.org/two-

persons-were-disappeared-

after-being-arrested-at-savar-

allegedly-by-rab-and-db-

police/ and Amar Desh 

8.2.12

35
Mohammad 

Waliullah

Master's student 

of Islamic Studies 

department and 

activist of Shibir

Al Mokaddas and Waliullah were allegedly picked up by RAB and DB Police. Their whereabouts are still remained unknown. 1

Information gathered by 

HRDs https://odhikar.org/two-

persons-were-disappeared-

after-being-arrested-at-savar-

allegedly-by-rab-and-db-

police/ and Amar Desh 

8.2.12

36

Mohammad Imam 

Hassan alias Badal 

(24) 

He was working in 

a shutter and 

grille making 

factory in Dhaka

not mentioned 1

Ruhul Amin, father of Mohammad Imam Hassan alleged that his son had been detained illegally by RAB-2. On March 5, 2012 

he was abducted from Anwara Park at Farmgate by Zahid. Ruhul Amin gave the name of the kidnappers and their cell phone 

number to RAB-2, over telephone from Panchagarh. Members of RAB-2 carried out an operation and rescued his son the 

next day at 10.30 pm and also arrested two abductors, Zahid and Babul. Later, one of the kidnappers informed him over a cell 

phone that his son was taken by RAB.  When Ruhul Amin made a phone call to RAB-2 and wanted to know about his son, 

RAB confirmed the rescue and told him to come to Dhaka if he wanted his son back. On March 13, 2012, Ruhul Amin went to 

RAB-2 office in Dhaka with his wife. Till that time his whereabouts were still unknown.

1 06.03.2012

https://odhikar.org/banglades

h-we-want-our-disappeared-

son-back/;

Mohammad Ruhul 

Amin,father of the 

victim,South Rajnagar,Notun 

Bostti Khalpara, Panchagar, 

cell no. 01717138905

37

Mohammad 

Hasanul Islam 

Hasan (37), 

Mohammad Bozrul 

Prodhan (44) and 

Mohammad Mintu 

Prodhan (29)

_

Amlichukai 

Adosho village, 

Gabtali upazila, 

Bogra

3
Hasanul's wife Rokeya Begum said on 12.3.12 night plainclothes RAB picked up them from Amlichukai Adosho village, 

Gabtali upazila, Bogra. Still their whereabouts are unknown.
3 12.3.12

Information gathered by 

HRDs, 27.3.12 and Daily 

Star 18.3.12

38
Ifterkhar Ahmed 

Dinar

Assistant General 

Secretary of 

student wing of 

BNP, Sylhet 

1
It is alleged that plain clothed members of law enforcement agencies picked up Dinar and Jonaed from Uttara, Dhaka. Still 

their whereabouts are unknown.
1 3.4.12

Samakal 7.4.12 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs, 23.4.12 

39 Jonaed Ahmmed
Leader of student 

wing of BNP
1

It is alleged that plain clothed members of law enforcement agencies picked up Dinar and Jonaed from Uttara, Dhaka. Still 

their whereabouts are unknown.
1 3.4.12

Samakal 7.4.12 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs, 23.4.12 

40 M Elias Ali BNP leader It is alleged that members of law enforcement agencies picked up them. Still their whereabouts are unknown. 1 17.4.12
Prothom Alo and Samakal 

19.4.12

41 Md. Ansar
Car driver of Elias 

Ali
It is alleged that members of law enforcement agencies picked up them. Still their whereabouts are unknown. 1 17.4.12

Prothom Alo and Samakal 

19.4.12

42 Nazrul Islam (38) Farmer

Jhaul Rail 

Crossing, Jhaul 

village, 

Kamarkhand 

Upazila, 

Sirajganj.

1

Nazrul Islam was picked up by some persons from Jhaul village near Jhaul Rail crossing on June 13, 2012. Those persons 

showed identity card of RAB while the villagers restrained them to take Nazrul Islam. Now, the family of Nazrul Islam did not 

know his whereabouts.

1 13.06.2012

Kaler Kantho 17.06.2012 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs of Sirajganj.

Nabinagar, 

Savar, Dhaka
2 4.2.12

Uttara, Dhaka

South Point 

School, Banani-

2 no. road, 

Dhaka

2



43 Md.Tara Mia  

Former Joint 

General Secretary 

of student wing of 

BNP of Pallabi 

Thana unit

Pallabi, Dhaka 1

On August13, 2012 Tariqul Islam Tara was allegedly picked up by some men identified them as the members of law enforcing 

agency from Pallabi at Dhaka. Saiful, friend of Tara informed that some unknown people were roaming around the area on 

August 13 in the afternoon. He believed that they were watching Tara which came to sight of local inhabitants. Understanding 

this situation, they went to his another friend Zamir‘s resident at night to sleep. At around 2.30 am some unknown people 

were knocking at the door and tried to enter at home forcibly. During this time, his friend‘s wife asked their identity, they told 

her that they came from Pallabi Police Station. Later five men entered directly to their bed room showing guns. The men 

asked their names. After knowing Tara‘s identity, they took away in microbus at gun point. Baby Akhter, wife of Tariqul Islam 

Tara filed a General Diary with Pallabi Police Station in this regard.

1 13.08.2012 Manabzamin 15.08.2012

44 Firoz Khan (25)

Joint Convenor of 

student wing of 

BNP of Barisal 

and also working 

as Fish Trader 

In front of 

Monsurabad 

Wapda Colony 

Mosque of 

Halishohor 

Police Station, 

Chittagong

1

On August 24, 2012 at around 7.00 pm five to six plainclothes men identified themselves as DB police picked up Firoz Khan 

in front of Monsurabad Wapda Colony Mosque of Halishohor Police Station, Chittagong in a black microbus with a sticker of 

CID. The number of microbus is Chotto-Metro Cha-15-9906. His wife alleged that, he was disappeared for the involvement in 

politics.

1 24.08.2012

Information gathered by 

HRDs of Chittagong 

27.08.2012.  Jugantor, 

Prothom Alo, Daily Star, 

Nayadiganta 26.08.2012.    

45 Miraz Khan

Younger brother 

of Firoz Khan 

(25), a Joint 

Convenor of 

student wing of 

BNP of Barisal 

In front of a 

restaurant, 

Mirpur, Dhaka

1

Firoza Begum, mother of Miraz Khan informed that Miraz Khan was picked up by some men claiming to be from 

administration five months before Firoz Khan was disappeared. She added that both of her sons Firoz and Miraz were 

disappeared. On April 3, 2012 at around 10:00pm, Miraz with his two friends have had dinner at a restaurant in Mirpur, 

Dhaka. As soon as they finished dinner and stepped outside of the restaurant, a microbus filled with a group of men picked 

Miraz and two of his friends after identifying themselves from administration. They freed two of Miraz's friends but took Miraz. 

After receiving this news, the family went to Dhaka and visited offices of different law enforcement agencies but failed to get 

information about his whereabouts. She also went to the restaurant where Miraz had dinner with his friends and talked to 

restaurant employees. One of the employees of the restaurant confirmed that a group of men came in a microbus and picked 

three youths from the porch of the restaurant. A traffic police who was on duty that day also said that day also said the same 

thing. The family filed a GD with Mirpur Police Station.

1 3.4.2012
Information gathered by 

HRDs

46 Bokul Khan

Secretary of 

student wing of 

Awami League of 

Bohra Union, 

Madhobpur 

Upazila, Habiganj 

and also a 3rd 

Sadarghat 

Terminal, 

Dhaka

1

On February 28, 2013 Bokul Khan was disappeared by DB police in a microbus which is numbered as Dhaka Metro-Cha-14-

2532 from Sadarghat Terminal while he along with Monir and Milon were looking for vehicle. On March 4, 2013 Bokul's 

brother Mohammad Ajmol Khan filed a General Dairy (GD number 161) in this regard.

1 28.02.2013

Jugantor 14.03.2013 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs from the family on 16 

March 2013.

47 Tarikul Alam Tuhin
Panel Mayor of 

Benapol, Jessore

In front of the 

Nam Building of 

Sher-e-Bangla 

Nagar of Dhaka

1

On March 7, 2013 Tariqul Alam Tuhin was allegedly abducted by RAB members when he came out from Jessore-1 

constituency Parliamentarian Sheikh Afil Uddin‘s flat at NAM Building situated at Sher-e-Bangla Nagar in Dhaka. The wife of 

the disappeared, Salma Khatun, alleged that RAB was involved in the incident. She talked to Tuhin last at 9:17 am when he 

told her that he was coming back to Benapole by a domestic flight. But he did not return home. RAB men twice came to 

Tuhin‘s residence and looked for him a few days before Tuhin gets disappeared. Supporters Benapole Municipality Mayor 

Ashraful Alam Liton and supporter of Tariqul Alam Tuhin had a clash on March 3, 2013. Members of RAB-6 threatened Tuhin 

due to altercation with Ashraful Alam Liton. RAB threatened Tuhin that nobody will rescue him from death. On March 5, 2013 

at around 1.00 am, RAB personnel came to his house and tried to cut off the lock of the main gate. They left the place when 

they were informed that Tuhin was not at home. Thus, she believed that her husband Tariqul Alam Tuhin was disappeared by 

RAB. On March 12, 2013 Torikul Alam Tuhin‘s cousin Sumon Mahmud filed a General Diary (GD) with Sher-e-Bangla Nagar 

Police Station in Dhaka five days after he had been disappeared. Later police registered the GD as a regular case. After 

seven months the case had been transferred to the Detective Branch (DB) of Police for investigation.

1 07.03.2013

Ittefaq 13.05.2013, 

Salma,wife of Tuhin, Cell No-

01776521855

48

Monsur Ahmed 

alias Boli Monsur 

(60)

An alleged 

criminal

Chola village, 

Bhola
1

On 27 March 2013, members of Hathazari and Fatikcchari Police Station of Chittagong arrested Monsur Ahmed from 

Soleman's house at Chola village, Bhola. Family of the victim alleged that, his whereabouts are still unknown.
1 27.03.2013

Information gathered by 

HRDs, Contact 

Person:Badshah, brother of 

the victim, cell 

no:01835494617

49
Mofizul Islam Rased 

(32)

Vice President of 

Darus Salam 

BNP, Dhaka

Infront of 

Diamond 

Garments, 

Mazar Road, 

Dhaka

1

On April 4, 2013 at around 9:00 pm, Mofizul Islam Rashed (34), son of Shahidullah and senior vice president of Chhatra 

Dal11 from ward number 10 under Darus Salam Police Station was taken away allegedly by plain-clothesmen claiming to be 

members of the law enforcement agency and later he disappeared. It was unearthed during fact finding that Mofizul went for a 

cup of tea in front of Diamond Sweater Industries Limited within the jurisdiction of Darus Salam Police Station. At that time a 

group of three or four men in plainclothes introduced themselves as members of the law enforcement agencies and abducted 

him by putting him into a grey-coloured microbus. The whereabouts of Mofizul Islam Rashed remain unknown since then. His 

family went to the police station and to the DB office several times, but the agencies always denied arresting him.

1 04.04.2013

 Information gathered by 

HRDs, Contact person: 

Ruma,victim's wife, cell no: 

01836466543



50
Md Rafiqul Islam 

Raja (21)
Businessman 1

On April 26, 2013 Raja along with Nirjhor and Naim picked up by 7-8 plain clothed men in front of Lalbagh fort. On April 28, 

their friend Roni got a phone call to come at the Lalbagh fort. Then he was also disappeared from that place. After 26 days 

Nirjhor and Naim were freed and returned. They informed RAB had taken them. Still whereabouts of Raja and Roni are 

unknown.

1 26.04.2013

Jyotsna, aunt of Raja 

01726800086, Lipi Akhter, 

mother of Raja, 

01726800086

51
Roni Chowdhury 

(18)
Tailor 1

On April 26, 2013 Raja along with Nirjhor and Naim picked up by 7-8 plain clothed men in front of Lalbagh fort. On April 28, 

their friend Roni got a phone call to come at the Lalbagh fort. Then he was also disappeared from that place. After 26 days 

Nirjhor and Naim were freed and returned. They informed RAB had taken them. Still whereabouts of Raja and Roni are 

unknown.

1 28.04.2013

Mojammel Hossain 

Chowdhury. Father of 

Roni,01725890693, Anjuman 

ara Begum, mother of Roni, 

cell no- 01725890693

52
Mohammad Zakir 

Hossain

An internee 

student of Dental 

at Dhaka Institute 

of Medical 

Technology and 

Acting President 

of Adabar Thana 

of Dhaka City of 

student wing of 

Jamaat-e-Islami

Mohammadpur 

area of Dhaka 

city

1

On April 3, 2013 at around 3.00 am a group of around 4-5 plainclothes men came to house no. 19/6 Tikkapara, 2nd Floor, flat 

no. 4/e, Mohammadpur. They entered the flat/ mess where Mohammad Zakir Hossain, an internee student of Dental at Dhaka 

Institute of Medical Technology and the President of student wing of Jamaat-e-Islami of Adabar Police Station unit and other 

roommates lived. They were looking for Zakir Hossain and gave a call to his phone. Then they identified Zakir while his phone 

was ringing. Then they allegedly detained him. While others in the room asked those persons about their identity then they 

replied they are from law enforcement agency and they will take Zakir. Later they picked up Zakir Hossain in a vehicle written 

with a sticker ―RAB-02‖ and left the place. Later, Mohammad Ataur Rahman, brother of Zakir have come to know about the 

incident after watching scroll news in Diganta Tv that President of student wing of Jamaat-e-Islami of Adabar Police Station 

Unit was arrested. Then family members immediately came to Dhaka and searched for Zakir in every place. They went to 

Mohammadpur Police Station to file a GD. Police recorded the GD on April 4, 2013. After that they went to DB office at the 

Minto Road and RAB-2 office but they denied the detention of Zakir Hossain.

1 03.04.2013

Ataur Rahman, Borther of 

Zakir, cell number- 

01913523605https://www.fac

ebook.com/notes/%E0%A6%

AC%E0%A6%BE%E0%A6%

81%E0%A6%B6%E0%A7%

87%E0%A6%B0%E0%A6%

95%E0%A7%87%E0%A6%

B2%E0%A7%8D%E0%A6%

B2%E0%A6%BE-

basherkella/international-day-

of-the-victims-of-enforced-

disappearance-the-

bangladesh-

chapte/745336568887643/

53
Mohammad Ibrahim 

Khalil
Repairman 

On 19 May 2013 two microbuses of RAB stopped in front of a tea stall of Korman Ali in Mohishbhanga village under Natore 

District. They asked for the night guard Sumon Ali and after not getting him they beat up the on-duty night guard Shobuj Ali. 

Then they detained Ibrahim from the road. They went to Kamal's house with Ibrahim and also detained him from there. Later 

they went to Toiyob's home and detained him also. A GD is filed in this incident at Boraigram Police Station. The GD No-666, 

dated 20/05/2013

1 19.05.2013

Prothom Alo 25.10.2013 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs, Contact 

Person:Mossamat Anwara 

Begum,Kamal's mother, cell 

no: 

01824298780,01856438387, 

Shahadat Hossain, Toiyob's 

brother,cell no: 01737327927

54 Kamal Hossain
Agricultural 

worker

On 19 May 2013 two microbuses of RAB stopped in front of a tea stall of Korman Ali in Mohishbhanga village under Natore 

District. They asked for the night guard Sumon Ali and after not getting him they beat up the on-duty night guard Shobuj Ali. 

Then they detained Ibrahim from the road. They went to Kamal's house with Ibrahim and also detained him from there. Later 

they went to Toiyob's home and detained him also. A GD is filed in this incident at Boraigram Police Station. The GD No-666, 

dated 20/05/2013

1 19.05.2013

Prothom Alo 25.10.2013 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs, Contact 

Person:Mossamat Anwara 

Begum,Kamal's mother, cell 

no: 

01824298780,01856438387, 

Shahadat Hossain, Toiyob's 

brother,cell no: 01737327927

55 Toiyob Pramanik
Driver of a local 

vehicle votvoti

On 19 May 2013 two microbuses of RAB stopped in front of a tea stall of Korman Ali in Mohishbhanga village under Natore 

District. They asked for the night guard Sumon Ali and after not getting him they beat up the on-duty night guard Shobuj Ali. 

Then they detained Ibrahim from the road. They went to Kamal's house with Ibrahim and also detained him from there. Later 

they went to Toiyob's home and detained him also. A GD is filed in this incident at Boraigram Police Station. The GD No-666, 

dated 20/05/2013

1 19.05.2013

Prothom Alo 25.10.2013 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs, Contact 

Person:Mossamat Anwara 

Begum,Kamal's mother, cell 

no: 

01824298780,01856438387, 

Shahadat Hossain, Toiyob's 

brother,cell no: 01737327927

56
Mohammad Fokhrul 

Islam

Owner of Swift 

Cable Network 

(Dish Antenna) 

Rashid Motors 

(Pintu Miah‘s 

Garage) 

located at 15/A, 

Shegun 

Bagicha under 

Ward Number 

56, Dhaka

1

On May 11, 2013 at around 6:45 pm, a group of men claiming to be members of the Rapid Action Battalion (RAB)-3, arrested 

Mohammad Fakrul Islam. a resident of Sylvia Cottage, House number: Ta 159, son of Abdul Hamid and Saleha Begum, from 

Rashid Motors (Pintu Miah‘s Garage) located at 15/A, Shegun Bagicha under Ward Number 56 and since then Fakrul Islam 

had gone missing. Such allegations were brought by the family members. Mohammad Fakrul Islam used to be the owner of 

Swift Cable Network (Dish Antenna) at 2, Tazuddin Ahmed Sharani (Old 383 Boro Moghbazar) in Dhaka Metropolitan City. 

1 11.05.2013

Genral Diary and Information 

gathered by HRDs, Contact 

person Azharul Islam,brother 

of Fohkrul, Cell No: 

01919605040 0191268423

Lalbagh Fort, 

Dhaka

Mohishbhanga, 

Natore
3



57 Samrat Molla

Organizing 

Secretary of 

Student wing of 

BNP of Sutrapur 

Police Station, 

Dhaka

Dhaka Central 

Jail
1

On 28 November 2013 Somrat Molla, Organizing Secretary of Sutrapur unit Chhatra Dal (student wing of BNP); Khaled 

Hasan Sohel, President of Ward 79 unit Chhatra Dal (student wing of BNP) under Sutrapur Police Station; Anisur Rahman 

Khan, President of Ward 78 unit Chhatra Dal (student wing of BNP) under Sutrapur Police Station; Biplop, Assistant 

Organizing Secretary of Ward 78 unit Chhatra Dal (student wing of BNP) under Sutrapur Police Station; and Mithu, Secretary 

of Ward 80 unit Sromik Dal (workers wing of BNP) under Sutrapur Police Station of Dhaka were picked up by law 

enforcement agencies when they went to meet two BNP activists at Dhaka Central Jail. After 11 days, on December 8, 2013 

Anisur, Biplop and Mithu were released but the whereabouts of Somrat Molla and Khaled Hasan Sohel still remain unknown. 

The incident took place when the five friends (Chhatra Dal leaders) were waiting outside Dhaka Central Jail in order to see 

two BNP activists, Shahin and Sanjoy, both from their locality, who had been arrested the previous day suspected of being 

involved in a bombing case. The five friends had come together to the jail gate at noon and had obtained tokens allowing 

them to enter the jail at around 12:40 pm. When they went into the visiting area, the two detained BNP activists (Shahin and 

Sanjoy) whom the five men had come to see, were not present. After they left the jail interior, the five friends thought they 

would try again, and got tokens allowing them entry at about 1:15 pm. five friends were waiting outside in a crowd of around 

50 people who were also there to meet their relatives or friends inside the prison. At that time, a group of people in 

plainclothes came there and picked up the five with them. The three of the five friends, who were supporters of the BNP‘s 

student wing, but not its office holders, were released on 8 December, having been detained for 11 days. However, the 

whereabouts of Somrat Molla and Khaled Hasan Sohel remain unknown. The families of the disappeared visited different 

police stations in Dhaka and other law enforcement agencies, including the Detective Branch of police, RAB offices; and 

Rajshahi, Sylhet and Chittagong Central Jails to see whether they were detained there. Sohel's wife Nipa said that she heard  

her husband and  Samrat were picked up by DB police.

1 28.11.2013

Manabzamin 17.12.2013, 

New Age 28.11.2014 and 

http://newagebd.net/71262/h

ow-all-it-

began/#sthash.XjeFeeYx.dp

bs , Shammi Nipa, wife of 

Sohel, cell no- 01680075506, 

Mohammad Firoz Uddin, 

Sohel's father, cell no- 

01732523996, Kaniz 

Fatema, sister of Somrat 

Molla, cell no- 01915867932

58
Khaled Hasan 

Sohel

President of Ward 

79 of student wing 

of BNP, Sutrapur, 

Dhaka

Dhaka Central 

Jail
1

On 28 November 2013 Somrat Molla, Organizing Secretary of Sutrapur unit Chhatra Dal (student wing of BNP); Khaled 

Hasan Sohel, President of Ward 79 unit Chhatra Dal (student wing of BNP) under Sutrapur Police Station; Anisur Rahman 

Khan, President of Ward 78 unit Chhatra Dal (student wing of BNP) under Sutrapur Police Station; Biplop, Assistant 

Organizing Secretary of Ward 78 unit Chhatra Dal (student wing of BNP) under Sutrapur Police Station; and Mithu, Secretary 

of Ward 80 unit Sromik Dal (workers wing of BNP) under Sutrapur Police Station of Dhaka were picked up by law 

enforcement agencies when they went to meet two BNP activists at Dhaka Central Jail. After 11 days, on December 8, 2013 

Anisur, Biplop and Mithu were released but the whereabouts of Somrat Molla and Khaled Hasan Sohel still remain unknown. 

The incident took place when the five friends (Chhatra Dal leaders) were waiting outside Dhaka Central Jail in order to see 

two BNP activists, Shahin and Sanjoy, both from their locality, who had been arrested the previous day suspected of being 

involved in a bombing case. The five friends had come together to the jail gate at noon and had obtained tokens allowing 

them to enter the jail at around 12:40 pm. When they went into the visiting area, the two detained BNP activists (Shahin and 

Sanjoy) whom the five men had come to see, were not present. After they left the jail interior, the five friends thought they 

would try again, and got tokens allowing them entry at about 1:15 pm. five friends were waiting outside in a crowd of around 

50 people who were also there to meet their relatives or friends inside the prison. At that time, a group of people in 

plainclothes came there and picked up the five with them. The three of the five friends, who were supporters of the BNP‘s 

student wing, but not its office holders, were released on 8 December, having been detained for 11 days. However, the 

whereabouts of Somrat Molla and Khaled Hasan Sohel remain unknown. The families of the disappeared visited different 

police stations in Dhaka and other law enforcement agencies, including the Detective Branch of police, RAB offices; and 

Rajshahi, Sylhet and Chittagong Central Jails to see whether they were detained there. Sohel's wife Nipa said that she heard  

her husband and  Samrat were picked up by DB police.

1 28.11.2013

Manabzamin 17.12.2013, 

New Age 28.11.2014 and 

http://newagebd.net/71262/h

ow-all-it-

began/#sthash.XjeFeeYx.dp

bs , Shammi Nipa, wife of 

Sohel, cell no- 01680075506, 

Mohammad Firoz Uddin, 

Sohel's father, cell no- 

01732523996, Kaniz 

Fatema, sister of Somrat 

Molla, cell no- 01915867932



59 Saiful Islam Hiru

President of 

Laksam Upazila 

BNP and Former 

MP

Horishchor, 

Laksam-

Comilla 

Highway

1

On November 27, 2013 Mohammad Saiful Islam alias Hiru, former MP from the constituent area of Laksam under Comilla 

district and President of Laksam Upazila unit of BNP (Bangladesh Nationalist Party) under Comilla district and also the 

President of Laksam Traders Association, son of late Mohammad Chand Mia and Sufia Khatun, resident of Gazimura village 

and Mohammad Humayun Kabir Parvez,  President of Laksam municipality unit of BNP, son of Mohammad Rongu Mia and 

Razia Khatun from Fotehpur village were picked up by the members of RAB at night from Alishor Bazaar - alleged by 

Mohammad Saiful Islam Hiru‘s wife Farida Islam and Mohammad Humayun Kabir Parvez‘s brother Mohammad Golam Faruk. 

It was learnt from the fact finding that on November 27, 2013 at around 9.30 pm Mohammad Saiful Islam Hiru, Mohammad 

Humayun Kabir Parvez and a man named Mohammad Jasim Mia had started for Comilla Hospital by an ambulance (number-

Dhaka Metro-Cha 71-1265) belonging to Fair Health Hospital. After crossing the Alishor Bazaar the running ambulance was 

stopped a few steps ahead by some plain clothed men and also some people dressed in RAB uniforms. At that time, they 

beat up the ambulance driver, Saidul Haque Sadek and picked up Saiful, Humayun and Jasim. Before the incident, at around 

9.00 pm Monjurul Alam Bachchu, son of Abul Hossain from Gazimura Moddhopara Village under Laksam Police Station; 

Aktaruzzaman, Manager of Exim Bank of Laksam unit; Sofikul Islam Liton, son of Haji Abul Kashem from Bagbari Village 

under Tongibari Police Station in Munshiganj; Bhudev Chandra Shaha, son of Gopimoy Saha from Dakkhin Laksam Village; 

Mohammad Monirur Rahman Mizan, Son of Dudu Mia Sheikh from Sriang Village; Mohammad Delwar Hossain, son of 

Mohammad Sukur Ali  from Uttar Shaktoli Village under Nangalkot Police Station; Mohammad Alauddin, son of Haji 

Mohammad Nurul Haque from Narayanpur Village under Monohorganj Police station; Shah Alam, son of Ali Ashraf from 

Batiyabita Village; Arjun Saha, son of Nondolal Saha from Shahapara Village of Paschimgaon were arrested by the RAB 

members from a meeting of Laksam Traders Association at Saiful Islam Hiru‘s Bangladesh Flour Mills. At around 11.00 pm, 

Saiful, Humayun, Jasim and the aforementioned nine men were gathered and brought to a place at Podua Bazaar of Dhaka-

Chittagong highway. After taking them to that place, the aforementioned nine men and Saiful Islam Hiru were taken to one 

microbus and Humayun Kabir Parvez and Jasim were taken to another microbus. After a while, Saiful Islam Hiru was taken to 

microbus where Humayun was staying and Jasim was taken to the microbus where nine people were staying. Later, at 

around 11.30 pm, Mohammad Shajahan Ali, DAD of Crime Prevention Camp-2 of RAB-11 handed over ten people including 

Jasim to Laksam Police Station. Then the Officer-in-Charge (OC) of Laksam Police Station asked to DAD Shajahan Ali about 

Humayun Kabir Parvez and Saiful Islam Hiru while others were handed over to the police station. However, DAD Shajahan 

did not give any reply. On November 28, 2013 the others except Mohammad Aktaruzzaman were sent to prison by following 

the direction of the Court.

1 27.11.2013

Inqilab 30-11-2013, 

Information gathered by 

HRDs, Contact 

Person:Tasnuba Islam,cell 

no:01730084046,Golam 

Faruk,cell no: 01711326720

60
Humayun Kabir 

Parvez

President of 

Pouro BNP, 

Comilla

Horishchor, 

Laksam-

Comilla 

Highway

1

On November 27, 2013 Mohammad Saiful Islam alias Hiru, former MP from the constituent area of Laksam under Comilla 

district and President of Laksam Upazila unit of BNP (Bangladesh Nationalist Party) under Comilla district and also the 

President of Laksam Traders Association, son of late Mohammad Chand Mia and Sufia Khatun, resident of Gazimura village 

and Mohammad Humayun Kabir Parvez,  President of Laksam municipality unit of BNP, son of Mohammad Rongu Mia and 

Razia Khatun from Fotehpur village were picked up by the members of RAB at night from Alishor Bazaar - alleged by 

Mohammad Saiful Islam Hiru‘s wife Farida Islam and Mohammad Humayun Kabir Parvez‘s brother Mohammad Golam Faruk. 

It was learnt from the fact finding that on November 27, 2013 at around 9.30 pm Mohammad Saiful Islam Hiru, Mohammad 

Humayun Kabir Parvez and a man named Mohammad Jasim Mia had started for Comilla Hospital by an ambulance (number-

Dhaka Metro-Cha 71-1265) belonging to Fair Health Hospital. After crossing the Alishor Bazaar the running ambulance was 

stopped a few steps ahead by some plain clothed men and also some people dressed in RAB uniforms. At that time, they 

beat up the ambulance driver, Saidul Haque Sadek and picked up Saiful, Humayun and Jasim. Before the incident, at around 

9.00 pm Monjurul Alam Bachchu, son of Abul Hossain from Gazimura Moddhopara Village under Laksam Police Station; 

Aktaruzzaman, Manager of Exim Bank of Laksam unit; Sofikul Islam Liton, son of Haji Abul Kashem from Bagbari Village 

under Tongibari Police Station in Munshiganj; Bhudev Chandra Shaha, son of Gopimoy Saha from Dakkhin Laksam Village; 

Mohammad Monirur Rahman Mizan, Son of Dudu Mia Sheikh from Sriang Village; Mohammad Delwar Hossain, son of 

Mohammad Sukur Ali  from Uttar Shaktoli Village under Nangalkot Police Station; Mohammad Alauddin, son of Haji 

Mohammad Nurul Haque from Narayanpur Village under Monohorganj Police station; Shah Alam, son of Ali Ashraf from 

Batiyabita Village; Arjun Saha, son of Nondolal Saha from Shahapara Village of Paschimgaon were arrested by the RAB 

members from a meeting of Laksam Traders Association at Saiful Islam Hiru‘s Bangladesh Flour Mills. At around 11.00 pm, 

Saiful, Humayun, Jasim and the aforementioned nine men were gathered and brought to a place at Podua Bazaar of Dhaka-

Chittagong highway. After taking them to that place, the aforementioned nine men and Saiful Islam Hiru were taken to one 

microbus and Humayun Kabir Parvez and Jasim were taken to another microbus. After a while, Saiful Islam Hiru was taken to 

microbus where Humayun was staying and Jasim was taken to the microbus where nine people were staying. Later, at 

around 11.30 pm, Mohammad Shajahan Ali, DAD of Crime Prevention Camp-2 of RAB-11 handed over ten people including 

Jasim to Laksam Police Station. Then the Officer-in-Charge (OC) of Laksam Police Station asked to DAD Shajahan Ali about 

Humayun Kabir Parvez and Saiful Islam Hiru while others were handed over to the police station. However, DAD Shajahan 

did not give any reply. On November 28, 2013 the others except Mohammad Aktaruzzaman were sent to prison by following 

the direction of the Court.

1 27.11.2013

Inqilab 30-11-2013, 

Information gathered by 

HRDs, Contact 

Person:Tasnuba Islam,cell 

no:01730084046,Golam 

Faruk,cell no: 01711326720

61
Mahfuzur Rahman 

Sohel (35)

Co-President of 

Bongshal Thana 

Juba Dal, Dhaka

In the crossing 

of Shahbagh, 

Dhaka

1

On December 2, 2013 at around 4.00 pm four of them joined at the Shahbagh crossing to participate in a party's programme. 

At that time, 15-20 armed men in plainclothes picked up them in two microbuses. One other activist of BNP named Mishu was 

present there in few distances who witness the incident. Later, family members contacted with different law enforcement 

agencies but there was no trace of them. Later, on December 11 they filed a GD at Shahbagh Police Station in this regard. 

1 02.12.2013

Shamsur Rahman, father of 

Sohel, 01191088051, 

01977333722, Nilufar 

Yeasmin Shilpi, wife of 

Sohel, 01931428040, 



62

Md. Habibul Bashar 

Zahir (27 ( As per 

NID Jahirul Islam) )

President of Ward 

71 of Bonshal 

Chhatra Dal, 

Dhaka

In the crossing 

of Shahbagh, 

Dhaka

1

On December 2, 2013 at around 4.00 pm four of them joined at the Shahbagh crossing to participate in a party's programme. 

At that time, 15-20 armed men in plainclothes picked up them in two microbuses. One other activist of BNP named Mishu was 

present there in few distances who witness the incident. Later, family members contacted with different law enforcement 

agencies but there was no trace of them. Later, on December 11 they filed a GD at Shahbagh Police Station in this regard. 

1 02.12.2013

Kamal Hossain, brother of 

Zahir, 01922789205 and 

Prothom Alo, 30 August 

2022; 

https://www.prothomalo.com/

63 Md. Parvez Hossain

Secretary of Ward 

71 of Bongshal 

Chhatra Dal, 

Dhaka

In the crossing 

of Shahbagh, 

Dhaka

1

On December 2, 2013 at around 4.00 pm four of them joined at the Shahbagh crossing to participate in a party's programme. 

At that time, 15-20 armed men in plainclothes picked up them in two microbuses. One other activist of BNP named Mishu was 

present there in few distances who witness the incident. Later, family members contacted with different law enforcement 

agencies but there was no trace of them. Later, on December 11 they filed a GD at Shahbagh Police Station in this regard. 

1 02.12.2013

wife, Farzana 01950898292 

and Prothom Alo, 30 August 

2022; 

https://www.prothomalo.com/

bangladesh/ebr25w6dqu

64
Md. Hossain 

Chanchal (28)
Activist of BNP

In the crossing 

of Shahbagh, 

Dhaka

1

On December 2, 2013 at around 4.00 pm four of them joined at the Shahbagh crossing to participate in a party's programme. 

At that time, 15-20 armed men in plainclothes picked up them in two microbuses. One other activist of BNP named Mishu was 

present there in few distances who witness the incident. Later, family members contacted with different law enforcement 

agencies but there was no trace of them. Later, on December 11 they filed a GD at Shahbagh Police Station in this regard. 

1 02.12.2013

Anwar, Chanchal's brother, 

01962418848 and Prothom 

Alo, 30 August 2022; 

https://www.prothomalo.com/

bangladesh/ebr25w6dqu
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Sajedul Islam 

Shumon 

The general 

secretary of ward 

no. 38 in 

Shahinbagh thana 

(police station) 

unit BNP 

(Bangladesh 

Nationalist Party)

Block-I, 

Bashundhara, 

under-

constructed 

building, Dhaka

1

On 4 December 2013, Sajedul Islam Shumon aged 36, the general secretary of ward 38 in Shahinbagh thana (police station) 

unit BNP (Bangladesh Nationalist Party), was standing by the side of a stony pathway next to an under-construction building 

of Block-I in Bashundhara residential area in Dhaka with that his cousin Zahidul Islam Tanvir aged 33. In the meantime, four 

friends, Mazharul Islam Russel aged 26, Asaduzzaman Rana aged 27, Al Amin aged 26, and Abdul Quader Bhuiyan alias 

Masum aged 22 had just met with these two cousins, and were walking back along Road-4 to the main road in Block-I. All of 

a sudden, three vehicles arrived, picked up the four men putting them into one of the vehicles and drove back to come to a 

stop beside Tanvir and Shumon. Then they also picked up the two in their vehicles. A construction worker who lived on the 

site at the time said that one of the vehicles was a black pick-up, the ones usually used by Rapid Action Battalion (RAB) and 

two others were white microbus.

1 04.12.2013
Information gathered by local 

HRDs

66
Mazharul Islam 

Russel aged 26

Master's student 

in Political 

Science in 

Jagannath 

University, Dhaka

Block-I, 

Bashundhara, 

under-

constructed 

building, Dhaka

1

On  4 December 2013, Sajedul Islam Shumon aged 36, the general secretary of ward 38 in Shahinbagh thana (police station) 

unit BNP (Bangladesh Nationalist Party), was standing by the side of a stony pathway next to an under-construction building 

of Block-I in Bashundhara residential area in Dhaka with that his cousin Zahidul Islam Tanvir aged 33. In the mean time, four 

friends, Mazharul Islam Russel aged 26, Asaduzzaman Rana aged 27, Al Amin aged 26, and Abdul Quader Bhuiyan alias 

Masum aged 22 had just met with these two cousins, and were walking back along Road-4 to the main road in Block-I. All of 

a sudden, three vehicles arrived, picked up the four men putting them into one of the vehicles and drove back to come to a 

stop beside Tanvir and Shumon. Then they also picked up the two in their vehicles. A construction worker who lived on the 

site at the time said that one of the vehicles was a black pick-up, the ones usually used by Rapid Action Battalion (RAB) and 

two others were white microbus.

1 04.12.2013
Information gathered by local 

HRDs

67

Abdul Quader 

Bhuiyan alias 

Masum aged 22 

Student of 

National 

University

Block-I, 

Bashundhara, 

under-

constructed 

building, Dhaka

1

On 4 December 2013, Sajedul Islam Shumon aged 36, the general secretary of ward 38 in Shahinbagh thana (police station) 

unit BNP (Bangladesh Nationalist Party), was standing by the side of a stony pathway next to an under-construction building 

of Block-I in Bashundhara residential area in Dhaka with that his cousin Zahidul Islam Tanvir aged 33. In the meantime, four 

friends, Mazharul Islam Russel aged 26, Asaduzzaman Rana aged 27, Al Amin aged 26, and Abdul Quader Bhuiyan alias 

Masum aged 22 had just met with these two cousins, and were walking back along Road-4 to the main road in Block-I. All of 

a sudden, three vehicles arrived, picked up the four men putting them into one of the vehicles and drove back to come to a 

stop beside Tanvir and Shumon. Then they also picked up the two in their vehicles. A construction worker who lived on the 

site at the time said that one of the vehicles was a black pick-up, the ones usually used by Rapid Action Battalion (RAB) and 

two others were white microbus.

1 04.12.2013
Information gathered by local 

HRDs

68 Al Amin aged 26

Master's student 

of Political 

Science in 

Jagannath 

University, Dhaka

Block-I, 

Bashundhara, 

under-

constructed 

building, Dhaka

1

On 4 December 2013, Sajedul Islam Shumon aged 36, the general secretary of ward 38 in Shahinbagh thana (police station) 

unit BNP (Bangladesh Nationalist Party), was standing by the side of a stony pathway next to an under-construction building 

of Block-I in Bashundhara residential area in Dhaka with that his cousin Zahidul Islam Tanvir aged 33. In the meantime, four 

friends, Mazharul Islam Russel aged 26, Asaduzzaman Rana aged 27, Al Amin aged 26, and Abdul Quader Bhuiyan alias 

Masum aged 22 had just met with these two cousins, and were walking back along Road-4 to the main road in Block-I. All of 

a sudden, three vehicles arrived, picked up the four men putting them into one of the vehicles and drove back to come to a 

stop beside Tanvir and Shumon. Then they also picked up the two in their vehicles. A construction worker who lived on the 

site at the time said that one of the vehicles was a black pick-up, the ones usually used by Rapid Action Battalion (RAB) and 

two others were white microbus.

1 04.12.2013
Information gathered by local 

HRDs
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Asaduzzaman Rana 

aged 27

Student of 

Political Science, 

Jagannath 

University, Dhaka

Block-I, 

Bashundhara, 

under-

constructed 

building, Dhaka

1

On 4 December 2013, Sajedul Islam Shumon aged 36, the general secretary of ward 38 in Shahinbagh thana (police station) 

unit BNP (Bangladesh Nationalist Party), was standing by the side of a stony pathway next to an under-construction building 

of Block-I in Bashundhara residential area in Dhaka with that his cousin Zahidul Islam Tanvir aged 33. In the meantime, four 

friends, Mazharul Islam Russel aged 26, Asaduzzaman Rana aged 27, Al Amin aged 26, and Abdul Quader Bhuiyan alias 

Masum aged 22 had just met with these two cousins, and were walking back along Road-4 to the main road in Block-I. All of 

a sudden, three vehicles arrived, picked up the four men putting them into one of the vehicles and drove back to come to a 

stop beside Tanvir and Shumon. Then they also picked up the two in their vehicles. A construction worker who lived on the 

site at the time said that one of the vehicles was a black pick-up, the ones usually used by Rapid Action Battalion (RAB) and 

two others were white microbus.

1 04.12.2013
Information gathered by local 

HRDs



70 Zahidul Islam Tanvir Businessman

Block-I, 

Bashundhara, 

under-

constructed 

building, Dhaka

1

On 4 December 2013, Sajedul Islam Shumon aged 36, the general secretary of ward 38 in Shahinbagh thana (police station) 

unit BNP (Bangladesh Nationalist Party), was standing by the side of a stony pathway next to an under-construction building 

of Block-I in Bashundhara residential area in Dhaka with that his cousin Zahidul Islam Tanvir aged 33. In the meantime, four 

friends, Mazharul Islam Russel aged 26, Asaduzzaman Rana aged 27, Al Amin aged 26, and Abdul Quader Bhuiyan alias 

Masum aged 22 had just met with these two cousins, and were walking back along Road-4 to the main road in Block-I. All of 

a sudden, three vehicles arrived, picked up the four men putting them into one of the vehicles and drove back to come to a 

stop beside Tanvir and Shumon. Then they also picked up the two in their vehicles. A construction worker who lived on the 

site at the time said that one of the vehicles was a black pick-up, the ones usually used by Rapid Action Battalion (RAB) and 

two others were white microbus.

1 04.12.2013
Information gathered by local 

HRDs

71
A M Adnan 

Chowdhury

Applied for higher 

study in Malaysia 

and a member of 

Bangladesh 

Nationalist Party‘s 

volunteer front 

Jatiyatabadi 

Swechchasebok 

Dal

Shahinbagh, 

Dhaka
1

In the night of December 4, 2013, Adnan Chowdhury, a member of BNP‘s volunteer wing Jatiyatabadi Swechchasebok Dal, 

heard that his senior political colleague, Sajedul Islam Sumon, had been picked up earlier that night by law enforcement 

authorities. Mohammad Ruhul Amin Chowdhury , father of Adnan Chowdhury told that on the night of December 5, 2013 at 

around 2:30am a few people started knocking on the main gate at his house in Shahinbagh. When he wanted to know who 

was knocking on the gate, the people who were knocking on the gate told him that they were from law enforcement agencies 

and told him to open the gate. He opened the gate and saw that around 14-15 men wearing black uniforms with RAB written 

on them were standing there with a black and a gray microbus. The ones who were wearing the black uniforms were armed. 

Then, a few of them went inside their house and started searching for Adnan. Adnan then came out from his room. At that 

time, the men started searching the whole house. One of them told him that they need to take Adnan with them because they 

would like to ask him a few questions. They also ensured that after the questioning, they will bring Adnan back. Then they 

took Adnan inside a microbus and left. On the morning of December 5, 2013, he went to Tejgaon Police Station, RAB-1 office 

and RAB-2 office as Adnan did not return home. He could not find Adnan anywhere. 

1 05.12.2013
Information gathered by local 

HRDs

72 Mohammad Kawsar Driver

 Horkot Ali 

Road, 

Shahinbagh, 

Tejgaon, 

Dhaka

1

After Adnan was being taken from his house, those men came to pick up Mohammad Kawsar aged 22, a driver lived in a 

colony in Horkot Ali Road- a five minutes‘ walk from Adnan‘s house and located just behind the prime minister‘s office. That 

night Kawsar had come back from work after midnight. Along with Kawsar there were two other friends spending the night in 

his room. One of the friends informed that at that night those men knocking the door very loudly. When the door was opened, 

about eight to ten people entered the room and put the light. Some of those men were in plainclothes and two were in RAB 

(Rapid Action Battalion) uniforms. Then they called Adnan and asked him to identify Kawsar. Adnan pointed him out. Those 

men then searched the room and took all sim cards along with them. They left the place with Adnan and Kawsar.

1 05.12.2013
Information gathered by local 

HRDs

73
Mohammad 

Nijamuddin Munna

Joint General 

Secretary of BNP 

of Airport Thana 

unit, Dhaka 

Metropolitan City

Mollartek, 

Dakkhinkhan 

Police Station, 

Dhaka

1

On December 06, 2013 at a time between 10:00 p.m. and 10:30 p.m. Mohammad Tarikul Islam Jhantu (28) and Mohammad 

Nijam Uddin Munna (24) were detained and then disappeared by the members of the Rapid Action Battalion (RAB)-1 from 

Mollartek area of Dakkhinkhan police station, Dhaka Metropolitan- alleged by Jhantu‘s mother Mosammat Hasina Begum and 

Munna‘s father Mohammad Shamsuddin. Jhantu is the son of Mohammad Noor Mohammad Khan and Mosammat Hasina 

Begum, resident of Prembagan area, Dakkhinkhan police station, Dhaka Municipality. He had been studying for his Masters 

(last year) at Tejgaon College, Dhaka. Besides study, he is the Joint General Secretary of the student wing of Bangladesh 

Nationalist Party (BNP) of Tejgaon College unit. Munna is the son of Mohammad Shamsuddin and Muyuri Begum, resident of 

Ashkona area, Dakkhinkhan police station, Dhaka Metropolitan. He had completed B.B.A (Bachelor in Business 

Administration) from Tongi College. Besides studies, Munna was also involved in student politics. He is the Joint General 

Secretary of student wing of BNP of Dhaka Airport police station unit.  On December 6, 2013 at a time between 10:00 p.m. 

and 10:30 p.m. Munna and Jhantu were picked up by some people who identified themselves as RAB members. Since then, 

there is no whereabouts of them. Regarding this incident, Mosammat Hasina Begum filed a General Diary (G.D) at 

Dakkhinkhan Police Station. G.D number-436, Dated- 09/12/2013 and Mohammad Shamsuddin also filed another General 

Diary (G.D). G.D number-431, Dated- 09/12/2013.

1 06.12.2013

Copy of GD and Statement 

of Munna's father 

Mohammad Shamsuddin 

filed to BNP office, cell no: 

01763782441

74 Torikul Islam(28)

Joint Secretary of 

student wing of 

BNP

Dakkhinkhan, 

Dhaka
1

On December 06, 2013 at a time between 10:00 p.m. and 10:30 p.m. Mohammad Tarikul Islam Jhantu (28) and Mohammad 

Nijam Uddin Munna (24) were detained and then disappeared by the members of the Rapid Action Battalion (RAB)-1 from 

Mollartek area of Dakkhinkhan police station, Dhaka Metropolitan- alleged by Jhantu‘s mother Mosammat Hasina Begum and 

Munna‘s father Mohammad Shamsuddin. Jhantu is the son of Mohammad Noor Mohammad Khan and Mosammat Hasina 

Begum, resident of Prembagan area, Dakkhinkhan police station, Dhaka Municipality. He had been studying for his Masters 

(last year) at Tejgaon College, Dhaka. Besides study, he is the Joint General Secretary of the student wing of Bangladesh 

Nationalist Party (BNP) of Tejgaon College unit. Munna is the son of Mohammad Shamsuddin and Muyuri Begum, resident of 

Ashkona area, Dakkhinkhan police station, Dhaka Metropolitan. He had completed B.B.A (Bachelor in Business 

Administration) from Tongi College. Besides studies, Munna was also involved in student politics. He is the Joint General 

Secretary of student wing of BNP of Dhaka Airport police station unit.  On December 6, 2013 at a time between 10:00 p.m. 

and 10:30 p.m. Munna and Jhantu were picked up by some people who identified themselves as RAB members. Since then, 

there is no whereabouts of them. Regarding this incident, Mosammat Hasina Begum filed a General Diary (G.D) at 

Dakkhinkhan Police Station. G.D number-436, Dated- 09/12/2013 and Mohammad Shamsuddin also filed another General 

Diary (G.D). G.D number-431, Dated- 09/12/2013.

1 06.12.2013 Prothom Alo 12.12.2013
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Mahabub Hasan 

Sujon 

President of 

student wing of 

BNP of 

Sobujbagh Thana 

unit

Narayanganj 1

On December 7, 2013 Mahabub Hasan and Kazi Farhad were picked up by a group of people identified themselves as 

members of law enforcement agency, from a farmhouse located at Noakandi village in Shanmandi Union, Narayanganj. The 

farmhouse is owned by a relative of Mahabub Hasan, Azad Mohammad Sadequl Islam. Both Mahabub Hasan and Kazi 

Farhad had visited to the farmhouse two days before the incident. From there, they were taken to Mahabub Hasan‘s flat 

situated at Fakirerpul in Dhaka. A construction worker, who witnessed the incident, informed that on December 7, 2015 a 

group of people knocked the door of the farmhouse. When he opened the door the men entered the farmhouse and picked up 

Mahabub Hasan and Kazi Farhad. Later the worker informed such incident to the farmhouse owner Azad Mohammad 

Sadequl Islam. The workers of the farmhouse, speaking on condition of anonymity, stated that when the men first knocked 

the door, the workers asked them who they were. The men replied the workers that they were police and workers were told to 

open the door. When workers opened the door, and the men who identified them as police asked workers if Mahabub Hasan 

was in their room. The workers told them that Mahabub Hasan was not in the room and after that they went to Mahabub 

Hasan‘s room and locked the door of the workers from outside. A businessman who was present in Fokirerpul area at that 

time, informed that the men who brought Mahabub Hasan and Kazi Farhad to the flat were in civil dress, but one of them had 

the letters ‗DB‘ written on the back of his jacket.

1 07.12.2013

Abdul Zalil, 

father,01715014247, Tanjina 

Akhter,wife of Sujon, 

01734009911 Aman, cousin, 

01822875179 New Age, 

28.11.2014,      

http://newagebd.net/71268/pi

cked-up-a-year-ago-theyre-

yet-to-

return/#sthash.mgBagEtI.dpu

f 

76

 Kazi Farhad (wife, 

Farhana-

01988461699)

28 no. ward 

President of 

student wing of 

BNP of 

Sobujbagh Thana 

unit

Narayanganj 1

On December 7, 2013 Mahabub Hasan and Kazi Farhad were picked up by a group of people identified themselves as 

members of law enforcement agency, from a farmhouse located at Noakandi village in Shanmandi Union, Narayanganj. The 

farmhouse is owned by a relative of Mahabub Hasan, Azad Mohammad Sadequl Islam. Both Mahabub Hasan and Kazi 

Farhad had visited to the farmhouse two days before the incident. From there, they were taken to Mahabub Hasan‘s flat 

situated at Fakirerpul in Dhaka. A construction worker, who witnessed the incident, informed that on December 7, 2015 a 

group of people knocked the door of the farmhouse. When he opened the door the men entered the farmhouse and picked up 

Mahabub Hasan and Kazi Farhad. Later the worker informed such incident to the farmhouse owner Azad Mohammad 

Sadequl Islam. The workers of the farmhouse, speaking on condition of anonymity, stated that when the men first knocked 

the door, the workers asked them who they were. The men replied the workers that they were police and workers were told to 

open the door. When workers opened the door and the men who identified them as police asked workers if Mahabub Hasan 

was in their room. The workers told them that Mahabub Hasan was not in the room and after that they went to Mahabub 

Hasan‘s room and locked the door of the workers from outside. A businessman who was present in Fokirerpul area at that 

time, informed that the men who brought Mahabub Hasan and Kazi Farhad to the flat were in civil dress, but one of them had 

the letters ‗DB‘ written on the back of his jacket.

1 07.12.2013

Abdul Zalil, 

father,01715014247, Tanjina 

Akhter,wife of Sujon, 

01734009911 Aman, cousin, 

01822875179 New Age, 

28.11.2014,      

http://newagebd.net/71268/pi

cked-up-a-year-ago-theyre-

yet-to-

return/#sthash.mgBagEtI.dpu

f 
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Selim Reza Pintu 

(27)

President of 

Sutrapur Student 

wing of BNP

Pollobi, Mirpur 1

On December 11, 2013 between 12.00 am and 1.00 am, Selim Reza Pintu was picked up by 7-8 plainclothes men claiming to 

be members of the law enforcement agencies, from his elder brother's house situated at Pallabi, Mirpur.  Selim Reza Pintu, 

President of Sutrapur Thana unit Chhatra Dal (a student wing of Bangladesh Nationalist Party – BNP), who had been named 

by the police in one case involving political violence. Usually, he lived in Sutrapur in Old Dhaka with his wife, but since 

December 6, 2013 he was living in his brother Aslam Reza Mintu‘s house at Pallabi in Mirpur, Dhaka. On December 11, 2013 

at around 1.00 am, Mintu's mother-in-law opened the door when someone knocked the door. Three men in plainclothes 

entered the house with torch lights. The men moved around and started to search the house. They knocked at the room 

where Selim Reza Pintu was sleeping. When Pintu opened the door, the men dragged him down the stairs. There were more 

men outside the building, and at least one had a gun. They pushed Pintu into a microbus. Till then the whereabouts of Selim 

Reza Pintu remain unknown. Pintu's family filed a General Diary (GD) on December 13, 2013 with the help of journalists as 

police did not cooperate with them.

1 11.12.2013

Mohammad Solaiman Reza, 

father of Pintu, cell no- 

01672459940, Nuhash Reza, 

wife,01682318081

78 Ehsanul Kabir

Former 

Information and 

Research 

Secretary of BNP

Infront of BNP 

office at 

Nayapaltan, 

Dhaka

1 Ehsanul Kabir was allegedly disappeared by RAB infront of BNP office at Nayapaltan, Dhaka. 1 16.12.2013 Jugantor 21.12.2013

79
Farid Ahmmod, son 

of Syed Ahmmod
BNP

Laksam Road 

under Comilla 

District

1

On the night of 11 January 2014, Farid Ahmmod alias Raju and Alamgir Hossain left Dhaka for Laxmipur on a Dhaka Express 

bus (Dhaka Metro G-3475) after completing work. The bus stopped for a dinner break at a highway restaurant in Comilla. 

After dinner, Farid and Alamgir got back on the bus and reached Laksam Road under Comilla District. At around 2.30 am, 6 

to 8 plain clothed men in a microbus, claiming to be members of law enforcement agency, stopped the bus and forcibly picked 

up Farid Ahmmod and Alamgir Hossain. As the bus driver‘s home was in Farid and Alamgir‘s area, the driver informed their 

families that they had been taken away by some armed men. Upon receiving the news, members of their family searched for 

them in different places. Unable to find any trace of their whereabouts, Alamgir Hossain‘s wife Taslima Begum appeared in 

the Court of Senior Judicial Magistrate of Laxmipur on 20 January 2014 and filed a case under Section 

448/323/384/506/(2)/109 of the Penal Code.

Both of them were associated with the Bangladesh Nationalist Party (BNP), the main opposition political party in Bangladesh. 

Farid Ahmmod was unmarried and Alamgir Hossain had two daughters and a son. Alamgir was the only bread earner in the 

family. In the absence of Alamgir and Farid, both their families are going through a very difficult time.

1 12.01.2014 Information gathered by HRD
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Alamgir Hossain, 

son of Shahajan
BNP 

Laksam Road 

under Comilla 

District

1

On the night of 11 January 2014, Farid Ahmmod alias Raju and Alamgir Hossain left Dhaka for Laxmipur on a Dhaka Express 

bus (Dhaka Metro G-3475) after completing work. The bus stopped for a dinner break at a highway restaurant in Comilla. 

After dinner, Farid and Alamgir got back on the bus and reached Laksam Road under Comilla District. At around 2.30 am, 6 

to 8 plain clothed men in a microbus, claiming to be members of law enforcement agency, stopped the bus and forcibly picked 

up Farid Ahmmod and Alamgir Hossain. As the bus driver‘s home was in Farid and Alamgir‘s area, the driver informed their 

families that they had been taken away by some armed men. Upon receiving the news, members of their family searched for 

them in different places. Unable to find any trace of their whereabouts, Alamgir Hossain‘s wife Taslima Begum appeared in 

the Court of Senior Judicial Magistrate of Laxmipur on 20 January 2014 and filed a case under Section 

448/323/384/506/(2)/109 of the Penal Code.

Both of them were associated with the Bangladesh Nationalist Party (BNP), the main opposition political party in Bangladesh. 

Farid Ahmmod was unmarried and Alamgir Hossain had two daughters and a son. Alamgir was the only bread earner in the 

family. In the absence of Alamgir and Farid, both their families are going through a very difficult time.

1 12.01.2014 Information gathered by HRD

81
Nuruzzaman Nura 

(35)

Son of 

Shamsuddin 

Sordar hailed 

from 

Amtola,Horihor 

Para, Fotullah 

Prem road 

area, 

Shashongaon, 

Fotullah,Naraya

nganj

1

On January 29, 2014 Nuruzzaman Nura was picked up by a group of people from Prem Road area, Shashongaon, Fotullah, 

Narayanganj. Local people identified one person from the group named Alam as source of RAB. Later they asked the group 

about their identity. The group of people identified themselves as RAB-11 and went from there with Nuruzzaman Nura. Later, 

the family contacted with RAB and DB office but there was no whereabouts of Nura. They filed a GD on February 4, 2014. On 

February 5 and February 7, 2014, they went to file a case but police didn't file the case. Last, on February 13, 2014 the family 

filed a case in the court accusing Alam. HRDs gathered information from Saidur Rahman Shakil, nephew of Nura on February 

28, 2014. Still his whereabouts remains unknown.

1 29.01.2014

Kaler Kantha 10.02.2014 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs, Nura's nephew Saidur 

Rahman Shakil, cell no- 

01673335627

82 Omor Faruk

Organising 

Secretary of 

Lakkhipur Sadar 

Upazila BNP 

(East)

Chittagong 1

Omor Faruk was picked up from one of his relative's houses situated at Katgor area, Potenga on February 5, 2014 by eight 

members of law enforcement agency introduced themselves as DB police. Later he was taken in a vehicle of RAB-7, alleged 

by Omor's wife Parvin Akhter in a press release. HRD contacted with her on February 28, 2014 and she stated that still there 

is no whereabouts of Omor.

1 05.02.2014

Prothom Alo 06.02.2014 and 

Information gathered by 

HRDs, Omor's wife Parvin 

Akhter, cell no- 

01791421220

83
Mohammad Ismail 

(42)

A contractor and 

an activist of 

Kanchpur union 

unit AL under 

Sonargaon 

upazila

Painadi area 

near the Dhaka-

Chittagong 

highway under 

Siddhirganj 

Police Station 

1

Some unidentified men introducing themselves as Rab members picked up Mohammad Ismail (42) from Painadi area near 

the Dhaka-Chittagong highway under Siddhirganj Police Station on February 7 evening, said his wife Josna Begum. A case 

was filed with the police station on February 10, 2014 in connection with the incident. However, there was no mention of the 

Rab's involvement in the incident. About 15 days later; Josna received a letter from two men. It asked the family members to 

pay Tk 2 crore to Lt Col Tareque Sayeed Mohammad, then commanding officer of Rab-11, if they wanted him back alive. 

Josna identified the hand writing of the letter to be her husband's. After receiving the letter, she along with some of her 

relatives went to Tareque and told him that they have managed Tk 1 crore. But the Rab official refused to accept any amount 

below Tk 2 crore and threatened the victim's relatives that if the matter was disclosed to the media, Ismail would not be freed 

alive. Josna said they were trying to collect the rest of the ransom money, but in the meantime Tareque was sent to 

retirement on May 6 over his alleged involvement in the seven murders. She claimed that she did not inform the law enforcers 

about the ransom as her family members were receiving threats from Rab men.

1 07.02.2014

The Daily Star 18.05.2014,  

Information gathered by 

HRDs, Abdul 

Mannan,brother of Ismail, 

cell no-01911557404

84 Mofiz Uddin

A security 

supervisor of 

Panama Port Link 

Limited 

Land port near 

Sona Mosjid, 

Chapainawabg

anj

1

On February 15, 2014 Mofiz Uddin, a security supervisor of Panama Port Link Limited was picked up by five plainclothes men 

addressed themselves as RAB picked up five people including Mofiz and four others namely Khalil from Shialmara village, 

Royel from Baliyadighi village, Nasir and Shukur Ali from Jiarpur and took them away by a white colored microbus (numbered-

Bogra-11-4739) from Sona Mosjid, a land port of Chapainawabganj. Later, two pick-up of RAB Registration no-5, Battalion 

4502 and Dhaka Metro Ga-13-1063). However, four of them except Mofiz were releases after finding them in the mobile court 

on February 16,2014. But Mofiz's trace is still unknown. Mofiz's wife Laili Begum filed a GD at Shibganj Police Station.  She 

also placed a written complaint to RAB-5 and NHRC. HRD contacted with Mofiz's elder brother Hafiz Uddin.

1 15.02.2014

Hafiz Udddin, elder brother 

of the victim, Cell No- 

01774952433, Harun-ur-

Rashid, Neighbour, Cell no- 

01734158697 and 

Manabzamin 20.04.2014

85
Mahbubur Rahman 

Ripon

An activist of 

youth wing of 

BNP

Feni 1

On March 20, 2014 Mahbubur Rahman Ripon, an activist of youth wing of BNP was picked up by seven to eight men 

identified themselves as RAB. Those men had shown arms to them-alleged by his wife. Outside there were also men wearing 

dresses of RAB stood beside a white microbus. They contacted with the office of RAB-7 but they denied Ripon's 

whereabouts. ln this incident a case was filed. HRD communicated with Ripon's brother Mahfuzur Rahman.

1 20.03.2014

Mahfuzur Rahman, brother of 

Ripon,cell no- 

01818787070Nayadiganta 

20.03.2014

86
Rokibul Islam 

Shaon

An activist of 

youth wing of 

Awami League of 

Comilla

Munsef Quarter 

area, Comilla
1

On March 29, 2014 at around 5.00 am a group of people wearing RAB's dress went to Shaon's house at Munsef Quarter in 

Comilla and picked up Shaon. They went there with three vehicles where it was written RAB-11. On the other hand, Rokibul's 

family alleged that the members of RAB denied his whereabouts now. In this incident, Rokibul's father Kazi Abdul Matin filed a 

habeas corpus in the High Court. HRD communicated with Shaon's father Kazi Abdul Matin.

1 29.03.2014

Kazi Abdul Matin, Shaon's 

father,  cell no- 

01793516003, 01952723409 

and Prothom Alo, 24.4.2014, 

Ittefaq, 21.4.2014 and 

Nayadiganta 19.04.2014



87 Rahmatullah Sentu
A transport 

businessman

Roy Shaheb 

Bazar, Dhaka
1

Rahmatullah Sentu, a transport businessman, was picked up by some Rab-10 men from Roy Shaheb Bazar intersection in 

Old Dhaka on April 9, 2014. At a press conference at the Jatiya Press Club, Sentu's wife Afreen Lovely on May 8, 2014 said it 

was at around 11.00 am on April 9 and she and her husband were coming from the office of a lawyer's assistant. When they 

came near Jalal Store on Goalnagar Lane, 10 to 12 plainclothes men came out of the blue and started dragging Sentu 

towards English Road. "My husband and I started screaming for help and several shop owners and other locals came forward 

and tried to save him," she said. Locals even had a scuffle with the abductors, but they overpowered the locals and forced 

Sentu in an off-white microbus parked before a shop, Subu Hardware Store, on Johnson Road. Lovely then sought help from 

the policemen who were on duty in the area. When some police members tried to stop the microbus, three to four men in Rab 

uniform, and equipped with arms, came from nearby. "The Rab men started beating the locals. In panic, I stepped aside. The 

Rab men then made way for the microbus to drive away," she said. Soon afterwards, a vehicle marked with Rab-10 arrived 

there and the uniformed Rab men left the scene in that vehicle.

1 09.04.2014 The Daily Star 09.05.2014

88 Kamruzzaman
Alleged member 

of JMB
Dhaka 1

On 28th September, 2014, two students named Arif and Kamruzzaman went missing when they were going to bus counter 

from Mohammadpur with the intention of travelling to Thakurgaon. After 35days of that incident Arif was shown to be arrested 

on 2nd November mid night (Thursday) from Shahid Mansur Ali Rail Station, Shirajgong with four others by the Rapid Action 

Battalion (RAB) and furthermore Kamruzzaman is still missing. Arif‘s mother Bilkis Banu told that before starting their bus Arif 

called her through mobile phone that he was starting his journey to Thakurgaon with Kamruzzaman. After that there was no 

trace about his whereabouts. When Commander Mufti Mahmud of Legal and Media wing of RAB was asked about that 

incident, he directly denied about the arrest of Arif and Kamruzzaman. Later on, RAB in its media brief described that they 

arrested Arif and four other terrorists from Mansur Ali Rail Station of Shirajgong with huge number of explosives. RAB also 

demands that the five persons are active members of a terrorist group named Jammatul Mujahidin Bangladesh (JMB). But 

Arif‘s family claims that they have never been involved in any political parties. After they went missing, last 2nd November, 

Friday, suddenly, 5 people were presented as JMB terrorists in front of the media in RAB Headquarter. Her son was never 

involved with any terrorist group. After he went missing, Arif‘s family filed a General Diary at Mohammadpur Police Station.

1 28.09.2014 Prothom Alo 17.11.2014

89 Jewel Mattobbor College student

Tarail village, 

Bhanga 

upazila, 

Faridpur 

1

Jewel Mattobbor and Sohel Mattobbor are bothers. The Father Amjad Mattobbor of the victims alleged that on November 14 

he along with her wife was sleeping while they woke up hearing knocking at the window. He opened the window and saw 

three plain clothed men. Then those men told them to open the door. They entered the room and took his cell phone. They 

searched the room. At that time, they want to know where are the sons of him. They brought out his both sons. He also 

started with them and saw 15-16 armed men dressed in RAB uniforms. They took his sons away. The guard Manik informed 

that those men who took away his sons brought two white and one black microbus. After that incident he went to Faridpur DB 

police, Faridpur and Madaripur RAB office. However, those law enforcers denied it.

1 14.11.2014

Prothom Alo 15.11.2014, 

Information gathered by 

HRDs from Amzad 

Mattobbor, father of the 

victim-01784247217, 

Khokon, maternal uncle, 

01791191135

90 Sohel Mattobbor Garment worker

Tarail village, 

Bhanga 

upazila, 

Faridpur 

1

Jewel Mattobbor and Sohel Mattobbor are bothers. The Father Amjad Mattobbor of the victims alleged that on November 14 

he along with her wife was sleeping while they woke up hearing knocking at the window. He opened the window and saw 

three plain clothed men. Then those men told them to open the door. They entered the room and took his cell phone. They 

searched the room. At that time, they want to know where are the sons of him. They brought out his both sons. He also 

started with them and saw 15-16 armed men dressed in RAB uniforms. They took his sons away. The guard Manik informed 

that those men who took away his sons brought two white and one black microbus. After that incident he went to Faridpur DB 

police, Faridpur and Madaripur RAB office. However, those law enforcers denied it.

1 14.11.2014

Prothom Alo 15.11.2014, 

Information gathered by 

HRDs from Amzad 

Mattobbor, father of the 

victim-01784247217, 

Khokon, maternal uncle, 

01791191135

91
Nur Alam (52) DoB- 

01/04/1963 

General Secretary 

of youth wing of 

BNP of Pollobi 

Thana unit

Joydebpur, 

Gazipur
1

Number of cases of arson attack and vandalizing of vehicles were filed against Nur Alam as he was involved with the politics 

of BNP. In order to avoid the police harassment, Nur Alam went into hiding to his elder brother‘s house situated at Thailkur 

village under Joydevpur Police Station in Gazipur on February 6, 2015. On February 12, 2015 at around 1.15 am, a group of 

plainclothes men identified them as members of Administration (law enforcement agency) picked up Nur Alam from his elder 

brother‘s house. His brother asked those men that where was Nur Alam being taken? They told him to contact with the local 

police station. Later, Nur Alam‘s elder brother Nur Islam went to Joydevpur Police Station, RAB-4 at Mirpur in Dhaka; 

Detective Branch (BD) of Police Head office at Mintu Road in Dhaka; and Gazipur DB police office. But they denied the arrest 

of Nur Alam. On February 12, 2015 Nur Alam‘s brother filed a General Diary (GD no-89) with Joydevpur Police Station, which 

was later recorded as a regular case under section 365/34 of Penal Code 1860 on February 17, 2015.  Still there is no 

whereabouts of Nur Alam.

1 12.02.2015

Information gathered by 

HRDs from Rina Alam, 

Victim's wife, cell no -

01715150428, Rubel Alam, 

Victim's son, cell no- 

01931460094 and  Prothom 

Alo 19.02 2015



92

Raju Islam alias 

Iqbal (23) DOB- 

25.08.1992 

Mohammad Omor 

Parvez Shawon, a 

friend of Raju

Graphics designer 

of Computer 

press

Fakirapul water 

tank, Motijheel, 

Dhaka

2

On March 20, 2015 Raju along with his friend Al-Amin and Mohammad Omor Parvez Shawon went to play cricket. At that 

time, a group of people identified themselves as Detective Branch of Police allegedly picked up them in front of Fakirapul 

water tank, Motijheel, Dhaka. Later, they communicated with RAB, DB and others but there is no whereabouts of Raju. 

Rumana said that Al Amin, who was with Raju, told her that he and Raju were returning home from Arambagh at around 9 pm 

after playing cricket at Suhrawardy Udyan and chatting with friends. Another friend Omar Parvez Shaon was met in front of 

the Fakirapul water tank. The three of them were drinking tea together while standing in the tea stall on the roadside in front 

of the main gate of the water tank. At that time, some people in plainclothes came and identified themselves as members of 

the DB police, grabbed the collars of all three and wanted to know their names. After hearing the names, they picked up Raju 

and Shaon and released Al Amin. Rumana said they lodged a General Diary (GD) with Motijheel Police Station in this regard. 

After that, they contacted various places including RAB office, Shahbag and Ramna Police Stations with the copy of the GD. 

However, everyone denied arresting Raju and Shawon .

2 20.03.2015

Information gathered by 

HRDs from Rumana, wife of 

Raju- 01688929675, Al-

Amin, witness and friend of 

Raju, cell no- 01987936912

93
 Nurul Amin (43) 

DOB-02.09.1972
Farmer 1

The victim family informed that Nurul Amin went to Dubai in 2005. Before that, he was involved with the Awami League. A 

case was filed against him at that time. (However, details of the case could not be known by the family members as it is filed 

previously). Due to his illness, he returned in Bangladesh at the end of the year 2013. On March 29, 2015 at around 6.00 am, 

five police and four members of Ansar entered the house and took him in a police van in handcuff.  Since then, there 

whereabouts of Nurul Amin remain unknown. The family of Nururl Amin went to Lokkhipur Police Station and DB office 

immediately after the incident. On April 2, 2015 they contacted with the journalists. On that day, he went to Chandraganj 

Police Station to file a GD. However, the duty officer took the application but didn‘t file the GD and said that as the GD will be 

filed when OC will come. Later, the GD is filed after publishing news in the newspaper on April 3, 2015. GD number-95, dated- 

03/04/2015. OC Humayun Kabir of Chandraganj Police Station told that, he received the allegation from the victim family 

members. And the allegation is filed as GD. Investigation is continuing but still there is no trace of Nurul Amin.

1 29.03.2015

Nasir Ahmed Babu, husband 

of sister in law of the victim, 

cell no- 01718981252

94
Saifur Rahman 

Sajib 

Former vice 

president of 

Gulshan Thana 

Chattroda

Kuril 

Biswaraoad, 

Dhaka

1
His father Md Shafique said, "Is my son a thief, a robber or a criminal? Is it a crime that he is a BNP leader?" His father 

Shafikur Rahman said that he was picked up by RAB from Kuril  Chourasta.
1 18.02.2015

Rising bd.com; Business 

Standard 29.04.2022

95 Zakir Hossain

General Secretary 

of Chatra Dal of 

Tejgaon College 

Unit

‗Dhansiri 

Restaurant‘ at 

Gulshan-2

1

Zakir Hossain‘s mother Aklima Khatun said that her son was President of Chatra Dal (student wing of BNP) of Tejgaon 

College Unit. There were 20-22 political cases filed against him. On 7 April 2015 at around 9:30pm, she got to know from her 

another son Iqbal Hossain that Zakir was taken away by four to five plainclothes men. Zakir‘s brother Iqbal Hossain told that 

on 7 April 2015 at around 9:15pm Md. Mizan, an acquaintance of Zakir called his mobile phone to inform him about the 

incident. On 7 April 2015 at around 9:00am after having dinner Zakir and Mizan got out of ‗Dhansiri Restaurant‘ at Gulshan-2, 

Dhaka. They were waiting in front of the restaurant building as it was drizzling at that time. At that time, four to five 

plainclothes men came by a silver colour TRS microbus and approached to Zakir. They told Zakir to get in the vehicle but he 

denied. Doing so there were scuffle happened between them. At one stage, one of the plainclothes men threatened Zakir to 

shot here if he scuffles anymore. Then, Zakir and all the plainclothes men got into the vehicle and headed towards Banani. 

While leaving the place, those men took the key of Zakir‘s motor bike, so that Mizan could not follow them. Mizan also told 

that those plainclothes men were carrying pistols like law enforcement agency (LEA) members. No one could do this if they 

are not from LEA.

https://www.jugantor.com/news-archive/online/politics/2016/04/07/9280/print

1 7/4/2015 1

Field visit by HRDs in 

September'2019, 

Mohammad Iqbal Hossain, 

brother of victim, cell no- 

01938766685 and Bangla 

Tribune, 7/4/2015, 

http://www.banglatribune.co

m/politics/news/94159/

96
Sheikh Sajjad 

Hossain Sobuj

General Secretary 

of voluntary  wing 

of AL of Kushtia

 Dream Square 

Resort, Mauna 

area, Gazipur

1

On August 15, 2015 one man was killed in a clash took place between the two groups of Awami League and Sechchasebak 

League (voluntary wing of Awami League) centering a programme on the National Mourning Day in Kushtia. A case (case 

number-18) was filed with Kushtia Police Station regarding this matter where Sheikh Sajjad Hossain Sobuj‘s name was put as 

the main accused. Sajjad Hossain‘s mother informed that her son was the General Secretary of Kushtia District unit 

Sechchasebak League and he went to Dhaka to get bail on the case filed against him from the High Court Division of the 

Supreme Court and stayed at Dream Square Resort at Mauna area in Gazipur with Aktaruzzaman Labu, President of Kushtia 

District unit Sechchasebak League. On August 21, 2015 at around 4:00 am, a group of members of RAB-1 unit entered into 

the resort after cutting the grill of the main gate. They picked up Sheikh Sajjad Hossain Sobuj, Aktaruzzaman Labu, including 

an officer of the Resort, Moniruzzaman. After a few moments on that day, they freed Moniruzzaman. They also freed 

Aktaruzzaman Labu after six days. After release, Aktaruzzaman Labu left Bangladesh with his family to India. They filed an 

application to NHRC on October 30, 2016. However, the whereabouts of Sajjad Hossain is still unknown.

1 21.08.2015

Shohida Begum,mother of 

Sobuj, cell no- 01711935253, 

01711029697, Jannatul 

Ferdous Jinia, cell no- 

01711029697



97 Sohel Ahmmed

Accussed of 

Ceaser Tavella 

murder case

Moddho Badda, 

Bepari para, 

Dhaka

1

Sohel Ahmmed‘s brother Parvez Ahmmed alleged that, on October 16, 2015 his brother was picked up near to his house by 

some people introducing themselves as Detective Branch of police (Detective Branch of Dhaka Metropolitan police). In this 

regard, while family members went to Badda Police Station to file a General Diary (GD) against Detective Branch of police 

(DB) but police refused to entry the GD against DB. They took the GD as missing. Till now his whereabouts remain unknown.  

However, Sohel Ahmmed is an accused of Ceaser Tavella murder case.

1 16.10.2015

Prothom Alo 18.05.2016 and 

http://www.prothom-

alo.com/bangladesh/article/8

62129/

98
S.M. Moajjem 

Hossain Tapu

President of 22no. 

Ward of student 

wing of Awami 

League of 

Rampura and 

General Secretary 

of Student wing of 

Awami League of 

Rampura Police 

Station unit

Flat no-3, 

House no- 353, 

Road no-11, 

Block-D near 

Apollo Hospital, 

Bashundhara 

residential 

area, Dhaka

1

S.M. Moajjem Hossain Tapu completed B.com in Marketing from Abuzar University College and was preparing to admit in 

MBA. He was the President of Rampura 22 Ward unit of Bangladesh Chhatra League (student wing of the ruling Awami 

League). His mother Saleha Begum alleged that on 26 January 2016 at around 11.00 pm, S.M. Moajjem Hossain Tapu was 

picked up by three plainclothes men, who were carrying guns, from a house located at the Bashundhara Residential Area 

(Flat No. A/3, House No. 353, Road No.11, Block-D) in Dhaka. She said that the men took her son away on a white microbus. 

It is to be mentioned that Tapu went there to pick up one of his friends‘ wife Nishi to attend a programme to another friend‘s 

house. At that time, Nishi was present there and witnessed the incident. She asked the men that why and where Tapu was 

taken to. In reply, the men threatened Nishi to shoot her to death by showing guns, if she asked anymore questions. 

Eventually, they left the place after taking Tapu with them. The shopkeepers of a nearby pharmacy also witnessed the 

incident that.  After the incident Tapu‘s friends Emon called Tapu‘s elder brother Moinul Islam Opu on his cell phone and 

informed him that Tapu was picked up by some unidentified men. Hearing this, the family members of Tapu immediately went 

to Bhatara Police Station to file a complaint. However, the Officer-in-Charge of that police station, Mohammad Nurul Muttakin 

told them to go to the Office of the Detective Branch (DB) of Police. They went to the DB office, but they also denied the 

arrest and the whereabouts of Tapu. The family filed a General Diary (GD) and an abduction case with Bhatara Police Station 

in this regard. They organised a press conference on 8 February 2016. They searched for him in different places but did not 

find him. Moreover, Tapu‘s family visited the Ministry of Home Affairs several times. Whereabouts of Tapu remained 

unknown.

1 26.01.2016

Press release Alhajj Mrs. 

Saleha Begum, mother of the 

disappeared,cell no- 

01937500600

99
Kamrul Islam Sikdar 

Musa 

Informant of 

Police and 

suspect of Mitu 

murder case

Kathgar area, 

Chittagong
1

Police claimed that they are still looking for their informant Kamrul Islam Sikdar Musa in connection with the Mitu killing case, 

but Musa's wife said the law enforcers had already picked him up over a week ago. Musa's wife Panna Akter on June 30, 

2016 went to Rangunia Police Station to file a general diary about her ―missing‖ husband, but the police officer on duty there 

advised her to go to another police station. Panna told a newspaper The Daily Star over the phone that after staying a couple 

of weeks at her father's home in Rangunia, she returned home in the port city's Kala Mia Bazar area on June 21. Some 

neighbor‘s then told her about police officials visiting her home. She said she then called her husband over the phone and 

after consulting with him, she along with her two sons and a brother-in-law went to the home of her husband's friend Nur Nabi 

in Kathgar area. ―On that night her husband called Nabi over the phone and then told her on his phone that he would visit her 

a day later,‖ she said. The following morning on June 22,2016 a group of plainclothes policemen went to the house and asked 

Nabi and Panna to call Musa over the phone and ask him to come over, she claimed. ―They asked them to talk to Musa in 

such a manner that he did not suspect that policemen were with them,‖ said Panna. When Nabi called Musa, Musa told him 

that he was near his house and at that moment the ―policemen instructed other law enforcers‖ outside to arrest Musa, she 

claimed. When asked, Panna said her husband went to Anwara on June 4 and returned home the following morning, the day 

Mitu was killed. She claimed Musa was not involved in the killing. ―My husband is a sand trader who also sells bricks,‖ said 

Panna, adding that her husband had no case filed against him earlier. But she could not give any details about his work as an 

informant.

1 22.06.2016

Panna Akter, wife of Musa, 

cell no- 01814752542, The 

Daily Star 01.07.2016 

http://www.thedailystar.net/fr

ontpage/musa-was-arrested-

week-ago-1248724  

100 Shamim Sarder 
Owner of a 

garage

Fakirhat 

garage, 

Sitakunda, 

Chittagong

1

On July 31, 2016 at around 6:00 am to 7:00 am eight to ten men identified themselves as members of DB police picked up 

Shamim Sarder along with eight others from Fakirhat garage. Later, they released two women including his wife from the DB 

head office of the Minto Road, Dhaka. The team picked up Shamim along with her wife and two others in one microbus. On 

the other hand, they picked up five others in another microbus. After, few hours of starting the microbus, Shamim was 

separated from his wife Champa Begum. While Champa was taken to DB head office, she did not find her husband there. 

Five days later on August 5, three persons were shown as arrested under a drug case of yaba with Khilkhet Police Station. 

They are Ibrahim, Alauddin, and Kamal Hossain. On the other hand, on August 8, Salauddin, Khairul Amin and Zakir Hossain 

were shown arrested under a case filed with Sobujbagh Police Station. Still, Shamim's whereabouts are remaining unknown.  

No trace of Shamim Sardar has been found yet.

1 31/07/2016 Prothom Alo, 12/02/2018



101 Md. Rezoun Hossen

Student of 2nd 

year of Hons. in 

General History in 

Dr. Afil Uddin 

Degree College, 

Bagachara, 

Jessore and an 

activist of student 

wing of Jamaat-e-

Islami

Durgapur Bazar 

adjacent to 

Benapol port, 

Jessore

1

Md. Rezoun Hossen is a student of 2nd year of Hons. in General History in Dr. Afil Uddin Degree College, Bagachra, Jessore 

and an activist of student wing of Jamaat-e-Islami. Mohammad Ripon Hossain, elder brother of Md. Rezoun Hossen alleged 

that on August 4, 2016 at around 12.00 pm Sub-Inspector Nur Alam of Benapole Port Police Station along with a constable in 

plainclothes detained Rezoun in front of Land Office at Durgapur. They came into a black colored pulsar motorcycle. Later, 

Rezoun was taken to a pharmacy of Shayef Ali situated at Durgapur Bazaar where they searched his body. After that, they 

left the place with the motorcycle. Later, in the evening the family members received the news of his detention. After getting 

the information, family members immediately communicated with the police station but police denied the arrest. On August 7, 

2016 they filed a General Diary (GD) with Benapol Port Police Station. GD number- 246, dated- 07/08/2016. They also 

arranged a press conference on August 14, 2016 at Paltan, Dhaka. No trace of Rezoun Hossen has been found yet.

1 4/8/2016
Bayejid Hossen, brother of 

Rezoun Hossen

102
Sheikh Moklesur 

Rahaman Jony

Homeopathic 

physician

Newmarket, 

Satkhira/ 

Satkhira Police 

Station

1

On August 5, 2016 at night Sheikh Moklesur Rahaman, a homeopathic physician went to New market of Satkhira district. At 

that time, Himel Hossian, Sub-Inspector of Sadar Police Station allegedly detained him. He was there for consecutive three 

days. Jesmin Nahar even took food to her husband Sheikh Moklesur Rahaman at the police station three consecutive days. 

On the fourth day on August 8,2017, she went to the police station but she did not find her husband there. While she asked 

SI Himel about his husband whereabouts, he said he does not know anything about Mokhlesur. Five months later, Jesmin 

arranged a press conference on January 3, 2017 at Satkhira Press Club. Moklesur‘s father Rashed Hosssain was present at 

that time. Jesmin Nahar mentioned in her written statement that her husband is homeopath physician. No cases filed against 

him. On August 5, 2016 police arrested him from the New market area of Satkhira. Jesmin told that, she went to file General 

Diary (G.D) on December 26, 2017 but police did not record it. Before that, on August 24, 2016 she filed a written complaint 

to Superintendent of Police (S.P) but did not receive any response from him. SI Himel threatened her that her husband will be 

in trouble if she let anyone know about it. Seeing no way out, she spoke in the press conference. Jesmin told that, Emdad 

Sheikh was the officer-in-charge of Satkhira Sadar Police Station. Himel arrested her husband in the order of the OC. On 

March 2, 2017 Jesmin Nahar filed a writ in the High Court division of the Supreme Court. Writ number- 2833/17.  No trace of 

Jony has been found yet.

1 5/8/2016

Sheikh Abdus Sadek, Jony's 

paternal uncle, 

01721582984, Jesmin Nahar 

Reshma, 01927021577,   

Prothom Alo 04/01/2017 

http://en.prothom-

alo.com/bangladesh/news/13

4967/Her-

%E2%80%98detainee%E2%

80%99-husband-disappears 

and Jugantor 04/01/2017 

and Prothom Alo 21/03/2017

103 Rafiqul Islam Carpenter

Gandhail Union 

under Kazirpur 

Upazila in 

Sirajganj 

District

1

On September 4, 2016 at around 3:30 am, Sirajganj District Detective Branch of police, led by Sub Inspectors Rowshan Ali 

and Yeasir Arafat conducted an operation in Boroitola village of Gandhail Union under Kazirpur Upazila in Sirajganj District; 

and arrested suspected JMB leader Faridul Islam‘s mother Phulera Begum (45), his two sisters Shakila Khatun (18), Salma 

Khatun (16) and a neighbour (carpenter) Rafiqul Islam‘s wife Razia Begum (35). On September 5, the Superintendent of 

Police of Sirajganj District, Miraj Uddin gave this information at a press conference. Meanwhile, Rafiqul Islam‘s father Lokman 

Hossain alleged that police picked up six persons, including his son and daughter-in-law one month ago from Boroitola 

village. After a long time with no communication, his daughter-in-law had been shown as arrested but the whereabouts of his 

son remained unknown.

1 August

Bangla Tribune; 

http://www.banglatribune.co

m/country/news/139065/

104
Shafiqul Islam 

Modhu

A resident of 

Alamnagar in 

Rangpur District 

and an employee 

of Rangpur 

Karuponno 

Garment 

Company

Mithapukur, 

Rangpur
1

Shafiqul Islam Modhu, a resident of Alamnagar in Rangpur District and an employee of Rangpur Karuponno Garment 

Company, along with his wife and son, went to visit his father-in-law Mohammad Fazlul Huq‘s house in Mithapukur, Rangpur. 

On 13 January 2017 at around 4:00 am, a group of men identifying themselves as members of the administration and also a 

man in police uniform picked up Shafiqul Islam Modhu while he was staying at his father-in-law‘s house. At that time Modhu‘s 

wife and his relatives asked the men for the reason of his arrest. Without replying to their question, the men seized two cell 

phones and a motorbike and left the place with Modhu. After that incident, when the family members of Modhu went to 

Mithapukur Police Station to see him, the police denied about his arrest. Later they searched for him at Rangpur Central Jail, 

Kotowali Police Station and the Office of the Superintendent of Police. After being failure to get any trace of Modhu, on 1 

February 2017 the victim-family filed a General Diary with Mithapukur Police Station. On 7 February 2017 Modhu‘s wife 

Ferdowsy Begum organised a press conference at Rangpur Press Club and appealed to the administration with regard to 

return her husband.

1 13/01/2017

The daily Manabzamin, 

08/02/2017, 

http://www.mzamin.com/detai

ls-

archive2016.php?mzamin=5

2528



105
SM Shafikur 

Rahman, 35

Involved with 

transportation 

business

Alfalah Goli 

area, 

Chittagong

1

Three members of a family were picked up from their residence in Chittagong last week by people impersonating themselves 

as law enforcers, alleged the family members. The three — SM Shafikur Rahman, 35, involved with transportation business, 

and his brothers-in-law Md Hasan alias Tareq, 21, and Moazzem Hossain Sathi, 18 — were taken away on 24 March from 

Alfalah Goli area and have remained traceless, according to the family. Shafikur‘s wife Sultana Razia Tumpa, at a press 

conference in Chittagong Press Club on March 30, 2017, said that six people impersonating themselves as members of the 

detective branch of police had entered into their residence around 2:00pm on 24 March and asked Shafikur to write his 

signature on a piece of paper, but he denied. Sultana said that then the six men took her husband and younger brother 

Moazzem on a white-colour microbus. Her younger brother Hasan followed the microbus on his motorbike, but he too did not 

return home. The men also took away eight cell phones from their residence. She also claimed that a day after being taken 

away, Shafikur had talked to his family from his cell phone and told that a team of law enforcers picked them up and later 

tortured them. ‗We filed a general diary with the Khulshi Police Station on 25 March in this connection, but the police could not 

rescue my husband and brothers. We also contacted Chittagong city DB office, but the concerned officials told us that they 

had not conducted any drive in that area on 24 March,‘ said the housewife.

1 24/03/2017

New Age 31/03/2017 

http://www.newagebd.net/arti

cle/12398/3-men-picked-up-

by-law-enforcers-alleges-

family#sthash.H2Wsn5Dq.dp

uf
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Md Hasan alias 

Tareq, 21
Not reported

Alfalah Goli 

area, 

Chittagong

1

Three members of a family were picked up from their residence in Chittagong last week by people impersonating themselves 

as law enforcers, alleged the family members. The three — SM Shafikur Rahman, 35, involved with transportation business, 

and his brothers-in-law Md Hasan alias Tareq, 21, and Moazzem Hossain Sathi, 18 — were taken away on 24 March from 

Alfalah Goli area and have remained traceless, according to the family. Shafikur‘s wife Sultana Razia Tumpa, at a press 

conference in Chittagong Press Club on March 30, 2017, said that six people impersonating themselves as members of the 

detective branch of police had entered into their residence around 2:00pm on 24 March and asked Shafikur to write his 

signature on a piece of paper, but he denied. Sultana said that then the six men took her husband and younger brother 

Moazzem on a white-colour microbus. Her younger brother Hasan followed the microbus on his motorbike, but he too did not 

return home. The men also took away eight cell phones from their residence. She also claimed that a day after being taken 

away, Shafikur had talked to his family from his cell phone and told that a team of law enforcers picked them up and later 

tortured them. ‗We filed a general diary with the Khulshi Police Station on 25 March in this connection, but the police could not 

rescue my husband and brothers. We also contacted Chittagong city DB office, but the concerned officials told us that they 

had not conducted any drive in that area on 24 March,‘ said the housewife.

1 24/03/2017

New Age 31/03/2017 

http://www.newagebd.net/arti

cle/12398/3-men-picked-up-

by-law-enforcers-alleges-

family#sthash.H2Wsn5Dq.dp

uf

107
Moazzem Hossain 

Sathi, 18 
Not reported

Alfalah Goli 

area, 

Chittagong

1

Three members of a family were picked up from their residence in Chittagong last week by people impersonating themselves 

as law enforcers, alleged the family members. The three — SM Shafikur Rahman, 35, involved with transportation business, 

and his brothers-in-law Md Hasan alias Tareq, 21, and Moazzem Hossain Sathi, 18 — were taken away on 24 March from 

Alfalah Goli area and have remained traceless, according to the family. Shafikur‘s wife Sultana Razia Tumpa, at a press 

conference in Chittagong Press Club on March 30, 2017, said that six people impersonating themselves as members of the 

detective branch of police had entered into their residence around 2:00pm on 24 March and asked Shafikur to write his 

signature on a piece of paper, but he denied. Sultana said that then the six men took her husband and younger brother 

Moazzem on a white-colour microbus. Her younger brother Hasan followed the microbus on his motorbike, but he too did not 

return home. The men also took away eight cell phones from their residence. She also claimed that a day after being taken 

away, Shafikur had talked to his family from his cell phone and told that a team of law enforcers picked them up and later 

tortured them. ‗We filed a general diary with the Khulshi Police Station on 25 March in this connection, but the police could not 

rescue my husband and brothers. We also contacted Chittagong city DB office, but the concerned officials told us that they 

had not conducted any drive in that area on 24 March,‘ said the housewife.

1 24/03/2017

New Age 31/03/2017 

http://www.newagebd.net/arti

cle/12398/3-men-picked-up-

by-law-enforcers-alleges-

family#sthash.H2Wsn5Dq.dp

uf

108
Abdul Kuddus 

Pramanik aged 54
Farmer

Hamirkutsha 

Village, 

Bagmara 

upazila, 

Rajshahi

1

Zahid Hossain, son of Abdul Kuddus during an interview with HRD Rajshahi stated that his father was kidnapped up by a 

group of men identifying themselves as members of law enforcement agencies from the area of Hamirkutsha, Bagmara, 

Rajshahi. At this time, Engineer Anamul Haque who was a local MP of the ruling party and Bagmara Upazilla Chairman 

assured them that their father would return soon, which is why they had not filed any complaint anywhere. However, till date 

they have failed to trace their father, and Abdul Kuddus remains dissapered till today. Kuddus family came to know from their 

neighbor that kuddus was picked up by RAB

1 27.03.2017

Prothom Alo 01/04/2017 and 

31/03/2017,  Rashedul Islam 

Firoz, Bagmara HRD



109
Md. Saidur Rahman 

Sayed 

Activist of Awami 

League

Jessore 

Municipality 

Park 

1

Hira Khatun, mother of Md. Saidur Rahman Sayed told that Sayed was involved with Bangladesh Awami League politics. On 

5 April 2017 at around 10:00 am, Sayed went to Jessore Municipality Park with his friend Shaon. On that day, at around 

12:00pm, Hira Khatun‘s neighbour Md. Sabbir Hossain called her over mobile phone and told that Sayed and Shaon were 

being arrested by police. The park was nearby to her home and she rushed to the park and found HM Shahidul Islam, SI of 

Kotowali Police Station and some other policemen were taking her son Saidur and his friend Shaon into a police van. She 

asked HM Shahidul Islam, SI of Kotowali Police Station about the reason of her son‘s arrest and Shahidul told her to go to the 

police station. Hira Khatun went to the police station but waited until evening to get any information  about Saidur. At around 

7:00pm, HM Shahidul Islam and Md. Amir Hossain, SI of Kotowali Police Station told her to bring two lac BDT to release her 

son. They said if she fail to bring the amount, her son will be killed and the body will be disappeared. Hira Khatun said she 

could not give them money. Police published news that Md. Saidur Rahman Sayed escaped from police when he was taken 

to recover arms at Mandalgati village in Jessore Upazila. Since then, her son‘s whereabouts remains unknown. According to 

goverment statement, Saidur Rahman is one among the ten, who have been found after went missing. An official of the 

Special Branch of ploce said Saidur is absconding at the moment. He is accused in five cases. 

1 5/4/2017

Field visit by local HRDs in 

September 2019; and 

Prothom Alo, 30 August 

2022 ; Shaon's phupu phone 

01923072134

110 Shaon Not reported

Jessore 

Municipality 

Park 

1

Hira Khatun, mother of Md. Saidur Rahman Sayed told that Sayed was involved with Bangladesh Awami League politics. On 

5 April 2017 at around 10:00 am, Sayed went to Jessore Municipality Park with his friend Shaon. On that day, at around 

12:00pm, Hira Khatun‘s neighbour Md. Sabbir Hossain called her over mobile phone and told that Sayed and Shaon were 

being arrested by police. The park was nearby to her home and she rushed to the park and found HM Shahidul Islam, SI of 

Kotowali Police Station and some other policemen were taking her son Saidur and his friend Shaon into a police van. She 

asked HM Shahidul Islam, SI of Kotowali Police Station about the reason of her son‘s arrest and Shahidul told her to go to the 

police station. Hira Khatun went to the police station but waited until evening to get any information  about Saidur. At around 

7:00pm, HM Shahidul Islam and Md. Amir Hossain, SI of Kotowali Police Station told her to bring two lac BDT to release her 

son. They said if she fail to bring the amount, her son will be killed and the body will be disappeared. Hira Khatun said she 

could not give them money. Police published news that Md. Saidur Rahman Sayed escaped from police when he was taken 

to recover arms at Mandalgati village in Jessore Upazila. Since then, her son‘s whereabouts remains unknown. According to 

goverment statement, Saidur Rahman is one among the ten, who have been found after went missing. An official of the 

Special Branch of ploce said Saidur is absconding at the moment. He is accused in five cases. 

1 5/4/2017

Field visit by local HRDs in 

September 2019; and 

Prothom Alo, 30 August 

2022 ; Shaon's phupu phone 

01923072134

111 Habibur Rahman
union AL sports 

secretary;

 A boat in 

Rajnagar 

area.Narsingdi

1

It has been almost six years since four Awami League men disappeared after police allegedly picked them up from a village in 

Raipura, Narsingdi.A team from Raipura Police Station picked them up around 2:30pm on May 26, 2017, and took them to 

Bashgari PoliceOutpost in the upazila, at least 13 witnesses told to the Daily Star.In the evening, two of the witnesses saw a 

police team, led by Azharul Islam Sarkar, the then officer-in-charge of Raipura Police Station, take the detainees to Syedabad 

Ferry Ghat in a police pick-up.Meanwhile, desperate family members of the missing men visited the police headquarters, the 

home ministry, and even appealed to the prime minister, but to no avail."I waited for my son's return for the last five years. 

Now I just want to know whether he is alive," Azizur's 80-year-old mother Nur Jahan Begum told.

1 26/05/2017 The Daily Star, 04/03/2023

112 Zakir Hossain, 
a ward-level AL 

president;

 A boat in 

Rajnagar 

area.Narsingdi

1

It has been almost six years since four Awami League men disappeared after police allegedly picked them up from a village in 

Raipura, Narsingdi.A team from Raipura Police Station picked them up around 2:30pm on May 26, 2017, and took them to 

Bashgari PoliceOutpost in the upazila, at least 13 witnesses told to the Daily Star.In the evening, two of the witnesses saw a 

police team, led by Azharul Islam Sarkar, the then officer-in-charge of Raipura Police Station, take the detainees to Syedabad 

Ferry Ghat in a police pick-up.Meanwhile, desperate family members of the missing men visited the police headquarters, the 

home ministry, and even appealed to the prime minister, but to no avail."I waited for my son's return for the last five years. 

Now I just want to know whether he is alive," Azizur's 80-year-old mother Nur Jahan Begum told.

1 26/05/2017 The Daily Star, 04/03/2023

113  Azizul Islam, 

Union Jubo 

League organising 

secretary.

 A boat in 

Rajnagar 

area.Narsingdi

1

It has been almost six years since four Awami League men disappeared after police allegedly picked them up from a village in 

Raipura, Narsingdi.A team from Raipura Police Station picked them up around 2:30pm on May 26, 2017, and took them to 

Bashgari PoliceOutpost in the upazila, at least 13 witnesses told to the Daily Star.In the evening, two of the witnesses saw a 

police team, led by Azharul Islam Sarkar, the then officer-in-charge of Raipura Police Station, take the detainees to Syedabad 

Ferry Ghat in a police pick-up.Meanwhile, desperate family members of the missing men visited the police headquarters, the 

home ministry, and even appealed to the prime minister, but to no avail."I waited for my son's return for the last five years. 

Now I just want to know whether he is alive," Azizur's 80-year-old mother Nur Jahan Begum told.

1 26/05/2017 The Daily Star, 04/03/2023



114 Roop Mia

Vice President of 

Bashkhali Union 

Awami League 

 A boat in 

Rajnagar 

area.Narsingdi

1

It has been almost six years since four Awami League men disappeared after police allegedly picked them up from a village in 

Raipura, Narsingdi.A team from Raipura Police Station picked them up around 2:30pm on May 26, 2017, and took them to 

Bashgari PoliceOutpost in the upazila, at least 13 witnesses told to the Daily Star.In the evening, two of the witnesses saw a 

police team, led by Azharul Islam Sarkar, the then officer-in-charge of Raipura Police Station, take the detainees to Syedabad 

Ferry Ghat in a police pick-up.Meanwhile, desperate family members of the missing men visited the police headquarters, the 

home ministry, and even appealed to the prime minister, but to no avail."I waited for my son's return for the last five years. 

Now I just want to know whether he is alive," Azizur's 80-year-old mother Nur Jahan Begum told.

1 26/05/2017 The Daily Star, 04/03/2023

115
Mohammad 

Murshidul Islam (39)

Farmer and a 

supporter of the 

Bangladesh 

Nationalist Party 

(BNP)

Taherpur 

Taltoli, 

Baghmara, 

Rajshahi

1

Murshidul Islam's wife Selina informed that her husband was disappeared on 19 April 2017 by men claiming to be from the 

Administration. Murshidul was a farmer and was a supporter of the BNP. He was accused in politically motivated cases and 

arrested in 2007. He was detained in jail for 22 months till his acquittal. Selina said that her son was studying in 

Kamruzzaman College in Rajshahi town. When her son fell ill, Murshidul went to Rajshahi town to see him. While returning 

from Rajshahi town, Murshidul was stopped by four plain clothed men at a place called Taherpur. They were on two 

motorbikes. They blindfolded Murshidul and took him away. Murshidul‘s nephew Jamal was with him when he was taken. 

When Jamal asked about the identity of the men, they claimed that they were from the ‗Administration‘. They threatened 

Jamal into keeping quiet. The men told Jamal to leave without looking back otherwise they would shoot him. Soon after 

Murshidul was picked up Jamal informed the locals and his aunt Selina about the incident. Selina went to the police station 

and filed a General Diary (GD numbered 786) on 20 April 2017. After five days, she met the current member of parliament of 

Baghmara constituency (Enamul Huq) and he told her that her husband had been picked up by RAB 5 members. He 

suggested that she to go to the RAB camp. In August 2017, Selina went to the RAB-5 office and SI Jewel Rana wrote down 

her complaint. Then every month she went to the RAB office and met Commanding Officer Mahbub Alam of RAB 5 and 

Company Commander Major Ashraf, but they kept denying the arrest of Murshidul Islam. It has been three years and seven 

months since Murshidul was picked up and disappeared.

1 19.04.2017
Information gathered by local 

HRDs

116
Mohammad Abdul 

Kuddus (28)

Cattle Trader and 

a supporter of the 

Bangladesh 

Nationalist Party 

(BNP)

Ibrahim Nagar, 

Baghmara, 

Rajshahi

1

Mohammad Abdul Kuddus (28), son of Mohammad Abdus Samad and a resident of Baghmara in Rajshahi, was disappeared 

on 06 April 2017 by plainclothes men claiming to members of ‗Administration‘. Kuddus was a cattle trader and a supporter of 

the Bangladesh Nationalist Party (BNP). Parvin Nesa, sister of Mohammad Abdul Kuddus, informed that on 06 April 2017 at 

around 8:30 am, her brother was going to Ahsanganj Bazar in Attarai under Naogaon District with two hundred thousand taka 

to buy cattle. Kuddus was in an auto rickshaw with some neighbours; and when he reached Ibrahim Nagar, a border area 

under Baghmara Upazila, two plain clothed men on a motorbike stopped his auto rickshaw. When the neighbours who were 

with him asked the men who they were and why Kuddus was being picked up, the men claimed that they were from ‗the 

Administration‘. They had guns and handcuffs. They handcuffed Mohammad Abdul Kuddus, put a helmet on him and hoisted 

him onto a motorcycle. At around 9:00 am, Parvin Nesa‘s cousin called her cell phone and informed her that Kuddus had 

been taken away. Parvin Nesa contacted her father and her uncle (Yunus Ali) who is a retired RAB official. The men 

contacted different police stations and RAB camps to search for Kuddus but the latter all denied arresting Kuddus. On the 

same date, Kuddus‘ father and uncle went to Baghmara Police Station and lodged a General Diary (GD). GD numbered 224, 

dated 06/04/2017. After three months of Kuddus‘ disappearance, the family came to know from a man named Sairul, who was 

disappeared and detained with Kuddus, that Kuddus was detained in RAB-5 office. 

1 06.04.2017
Information gathered by local 

HRDs

117
Asaduzzaman aged 

22

Shopkeeper at a 

grossary shop 

'Nazrul Enterprise'

Askorpur 

Sarkarpara 

village, 

Charghat, 

Rajshahi

1
He was allegedly picked up by a group of people who identified themselves as members of RAB. Still his whereabouts are 

unknown.
1 27/03/2018

The daily Jugantor, 

30/03/2018, and The daily 

poriborton.com, 30/03/2018, 

http://www.poriborton.com/pri

nts/114158

118 Mohammad Masud  Trader

 Boropole area 

on the 

Begumganj-

Feni road

1

On 5 April 2018, some men claiming to be members of the DB Police stopped a bus at Boropole area on the Begumgnj-Feni 

road which was going to Lakshmipur from Chittagong. Mohammad Masud and Saiful Islam, both traders and residents of 

Lakshmipur were travelling on that bus and the men took them away, as alleged by their family. The whereabouts of 

Mohammad Masud and Saiful Islam are still unknown.  Saiful‘s father Mohammad Ismail informed that they went to 

Begumganj Police Station under Noakhali District and Chandraganj Police Station under Lakshmipur District to file a General 

Diary (GD), but police did not register their GD. Meanwhile, Ayesha Akhter, wife of Mohammad Masud, told that she filed a 

GD at Chandraganj Police Station a week after the incident.

1 5/4/2018

Masud's wife Ayesha Akter- 

01795153565, http://www.bd-

pratidin.com/last-

page/2018/04/17/322926



119 Saiful Islam  Trader

 Boropole area 

on the 

Begumganj-

Feni road

1

On 5 April 2018, some men claiming to be members of the DB Police stopped a bus at Boropole area on the Begumgnj-Feni 

road which was going to Lakshmipur from Chittagong. Mohammad Masud and Saiful Islam, both traders and residents of 

Lakshmipur were travelling on that bus and the men took them away, as alleged by their family. The whereabouts of 

Mohammad Masud and Saiful Islam are still unknown.  Saiful‘s father Mohammad Ismail informed that they went to 

Begumganj Police Station under Noakhali District and Chandraganj Police Station under Lakshmipur District to file a General 

Diary (GD), but police did not register their GD. Meanwhile, Ayesha Akhter, wife of Mohammad Masud, told that she filed a 

GD at Chandraganj Police Station a week after the incident.

1 5/4/2018

Saiful Islam's father Ismail 

Kalu- 01872255483, 

http://www.bd-

pratidin.com/last-

page/2018/04/17/322926

120
Ismail Hossain 

Manik
Not reported 

road no.4 of 

Katasur area of 

Mohammadpur, 

Dhaka

1

Mojnu Molla, Adviser of worker‘s wing of Awami League of Mohammadpur-Adabor Police Station Committee and father of 

disappeared Ismail Hossain Manik alleged that on 4 June 2018 at around 11:00 pm, a group of men in plainclothes claiming to 

be RAB members picked up Ismail Hossain Manik in a microbus from road no.4 of Katasur area of Mohammadpur, Dhaka. He 

also added that, in the wind shield of the microbus a sticker of RAB was seen. One Tipu and Saddam from the same locality 

known as RAB informers were also associated the group. While family members communicated with the office of RAB-2, they 

denied the allegation of detaining Manik. Since then, Manik‘s whereabouts is unknown. A GD is filed with Mohammadpur 

Police Station in this regard on 15 June 2018. Jamal Uddin Mir, Officer-in-Charge (OC) of Mohammadpur Police Station said 

that there were two cases filed against Manik. Police is trying to find him out. 

1 4/6/2018

The daily Naya Diganta, 

05/07/2018, 

http://www.dailynayadiganta.

com/city/330368/র্ যাব-

঩রিচয়ে-তুয়ে and 

Manabkantha, 05/07/18, 

https://www.manobkantha.co

m/িয্াব-঩রিচয়ে-তুয়ে-ননোি

121
Mohammad Mohon 

Mia aged 38

Grocery 

Shopkeeper
Mirpur, Dhaka 1

Family members of Mohammad Mohon Mia alleged that on 10 June at around 10:45 pm, Mohon Mia was picked up by a 

group of plainclothes men from his grocery shop adjacent to his house situated at Road 3, CHA block, Mirpur-2 section, 

Dhaka.  He was picked up in a motorcycle. Later, a RAB infromer communicated with the family members and took two lacs 

Taka for releasing Mohammad Mohon Mia. Family members alleged that one police officer named Mohammad Hafizur 

Rahman of RAB-4 unit met with Mohon's father Jhomsher Ali for three days. He provided a letter written by Mohon to 

Jhomsher. However, still Mohon's whereabouts remain unknown. The family members also alleged that they have enmity 

with one Azizul Haque over land property. Azizul Haque might have used law enforcement agency to make disappear 

Mohon. Mohan was accused in two narcotics cases filed with Mirpur and Shah Ali police stations and had been on bail when 

he was taken. Mohon's wife filed a general diary (GD) with Mirpur Model Police Station on 11 June 2018.

1 10/6/2018

The Daily Star, 27/5/2019, 

https://www.thedailystar.net/f

rontpage/news/fathers-cry-

continues-vain-1749394

and Prothom Alo 29/8/2018, 

https://epaper.prothomalo.co

m/?pagedate=2018-8-

29&edcode=71&subcode=71

&mod=1&pgnum=1&type=a 

, Father Md. Jamsher Ali  

01731151362

122 Fajal Huq aged 60 Not reported 

Bhoralipara 

village of 

Tetuljhora 

Union under 

Savar Upazila 

in Dhaka

1

On 6 July 2018 at around 11:00 pm, some men claiming to be members of RAB picked up Fajal Huq (60), his brother-in-law 

Rupai Khan Rubel (40) and nephew Munnaf Hossain (35) from Fajal Huq‘s house in Bhoralipara village of Tetuljhora Union 

under Savar Upazila in Dhaka. On 8 August 2018 Fajal Huq‘s wife Renu Begum alleged this at a press conference. The day 

after the incident, the family contacted Nabinagar RAB Camp and Ashulia Police Station, but they denied arresting the three. 

However, Rubel was produced before the court showing him as arrested with Yaba pills (drugs) on the same day. Rubel 

informed Renu Begum that the three of them were detained in Nabinagar RAB Camp. Later he was shown as arrested and 

sent to the court but Fajal Huq and Munnaf Hossain were kept in the RAB custody. He said that RAB members asked him 

not to disclose this matter to anyone. Hearing this, the family members of Fajal Huq went to RAB Camp again where RAB 

member SI Sanjoy told them to return after five days. After five days when they visited the RAB Camp, SI Sanjoy did not 

recognise them and refused to help.

1 6/7/2018

123
Munnaf Hossain 

aged 35
Not reported 

Bhoralipara 

village of 

Tetuljhora 

Union under 

Savar Upazila 

in Dhaka

1

On 6 July 2018 at around 11:00 pm, some men claiming to be members of RAB picked up Fajal Huq (60), his brother-in-law 

Rupai Khan Rubel (40) and nephew Munnaf Hossain (35) from Fajal Huq‘s house in Bhoralipara village of Tetuljhora Union 

under Savar Upazila in Dhaka. On 8 August 2018 Fajal Huq‘s wife Renu Begum alleged this at a press conference. The day 

after the incident, the family contacted Nabinagar RAB Camp and Ashulia Police Station, but they denied arresting the three. 

However, Rubel was produced before the court showing him as arrested with Yaba pills (drugs) on the same day. Rubel 

informed Renu Begum that the three of them were detained in Nabinagar RAB Camp. Later he was shown as arrested and 

sent to the court but Fajal Huq and Munnaf Hossain were kept in the RAB custody. He said that RAB members asked him 

not to disclose this matter to anyone. Hearing this, the family members of Fajal Huq went to RAB Camp again where RAB 

member SI Sanjoy told them to return after five days. After five days when they visited the RAB Camp, SI Sanjoy did not 

recognise them and refused to help.

1 6/7/2018

The daily Naya Diganta, 

9/08/2018 



124 Jahid Hasan, 18
Driver of Jubo 

League leader 

Isanagar of 

Karnaphuli 

upazila, 

Chittagong

1

Jahid Hasan, an eyewitness to an alleged shootout between drug peddlers and Rapid Action Battalion-7 in Chattogram's 

Muradpur area has been missing since 14 October 2018. Jahid Hasan, son of late Md Yasin of Koddartek, Charlakkha union -

- was the driver of Jubo League leader Asim Roy Babu, who was killed in the ―shootout‖ on October 12. Jahid was picked up 

two days after the incident by people in plainclothes from his aunt's home in Isanagar of Karnaphuli upazila. He has been 

missing since then, said family members. They added that after the ―shootout‖,  Jahid had spoken to several media outlets -- 

Somoy Television, Cplus TV, and a local online television channel of Chattogram -- as a witness. Hosne Ara Begum, Jahid's 

mother, in late February, told, ―My son worked as Asim's driver for six months. On the day of the 'shootout', he returned 

home around 3:30am, clearly frightened. Jahid told us about the gunfight, and later heard about the death of Asim from his 

wife over phone.‖ ―We panicked as my son had spoken to the media about how he ran away after the shooting had begun. 

―On October 14, I went to my sister's home with my two sons and daughter to attend a programme,‖ she added. Jahid's elder 

brother Mehedi Hasan Biplob said, ―Jahid, my mother and I were sleeping in my aunt's home. We woke to the sound of some 

men speaking outside around 3:30am.‖ ―About 4 to 5 people introducing themselves as our guests asked us to open the 

door,‖ said Mehedi, a carpenter. When Mehedi asked again for their identity, they said they were ―people from the 

administration‖. ―They kept asking questions about Jahid.‖ During their verbal altercation, Mehedi's uncle Md Faruk opened 

the door. All the men were in plainclothes. ―They immediately grabbed Jahid and his cousin Faisal, and showed firearms 

strapped to their waists to intimidate us.‖ Mehedi said he remembers seeing them shove Jahid into a black SUV and he got 

the partial number plate, 13-3564. He could not remember the name of the city mentioned on the plate. 

Mehedi said they went to Rab-7 Chandgaon camp the next day to know the whereabouts of Jahid but Rab officials said they 

did not detain anyone. Later, Mehedi went to file a General Diary with Karnaphuli Police Station. ―I filed the GD in the 

morning mentioning that Rab men picked up my brother. But in the afternoon, the police gave me a copy of the GD that did 

not mention Rab.‖ Hosne Ara submitted a written complaint to Rab-7 headquarters on October 28. ―I went to Rab-7 

headquarters, but they did not allow me to even enter or talk to anyone.‖ 

When asked on February 24, Sub-Inspector Fazle Rabbi Faisal of Karnaphuli Police Station, also the investigation officer of 

the missing person case, said, ―We are investigating the matter and have forwarded Jahid's photo to other police stations.‖ 

When contacted, Rab-7 Commanding Officer Lt Col Miftah Uddin Ahmed said, ―Rab is also looking for the driver, as we did 

not find him after the gunfight incident.‖

1 14/10/2018

The Daily Star, 10 March 

2019, 

https://www.thedailystar.net/f

rontpage/news/shootout-

witness-missing-5-months-

1712827

125 Kamrul Hasan

Student of fourth 

semester of 

Anthropology 

department of 

Jagannath 

University

Suritola High 

School, Dhaka
1

On 21 October 2018 Kamrul Hasan along with his younger brother headed towards to Passport office at Agargaon, Dhaka 

from their house. After that, a group of plainclothes men identified themselves as DB police picked up Kamrul in front of 

Suritola High School, Dhaka. They said Kamrul‘s younger borther Jahid to meet at the head office of DB at Minto road, 

Dhaka. Later, Jahid went to DB office from there plainclothes DB police also picked up Jahid. Both Jahaid and Kamrul were 

taken to their mess at Bongshal. Those plainclothes men searched their house and seized books and laptop. They released 

Jahid but took away his brother Kamrul. Till then Kamrul‘s whereabouts remain unknown.  

1 21/10/2018

The daily Nayadiganta 

24/10/2018, 

http://www.enayadiganta.co

m/news.php?nid=442218

126
Shariful Islam 

Biplob

Student of 

Rajshahi Law 

College

Hoseniganj, 

Rajshahi
1

Shapla, sister of victim Biplob, said that in the evening of 2 November 2018 her brother went out of the hostel and sitting on 

the nearby street. At that time some plainclothes men identified themselves as DB Police and forcibly took Biplob in a white 

microbus. Since then, he has not been found anymore. His family searched in all the offices of the law enforcing agencies but 

not found. Finally, his family could file a GD on 4 November 2018 with Boalia Police Station regarding this incident.

1 2/11/2018

The daily Jugantor 

7/11/2018, 

https://www.jugantor.com/tod

ays-paper/news/109148

127 Shaon Hossain (26)
DSR of Robi 

Telecom Ltd. 

East Mandail, 

Keraniganj, 

Dhaka

1

A youth named Shaon Hossain (26) was allegedly picked up by DB Police in Keraniganj on 12 November 2018 at around 

1:00am. His wife Khadija told that some people identified as 'DB police' came to  their rental house at East Mandail, 

Keraniganj and picked up Shaon. However, the officer of Keraniganj Model Police Station, Shakir Mohammad Jobayer, said 

they did not know anything about this. Shaon's wife Khadija Akhter filed a complaint with the Model Police Station on the next 

day. Khadija Begum said that her husband has been working as a DSR of a mobile phone company named Robi.

1 12/11/2018

The daily Jugantor 

13/11/2018, 

https://www.jugantor.com/tod

ays-paper/second-

edition/111285

128
Omar Faruque 

Mohammad Enamul

Managing 

Director of a 

Security service 

company

Bashabo 

Tempoo stand, 

Sabujbag, 

Dhaka

1

There was allegation of picking up a businessman named Omar Faruque Mohammad Enamul by Detective Branch of Police 

(DB) from Sabujbag. In the afternoon of 14 November 2018, some plain-clothed men picked him up from the Basabo Tempo 

stand in Sabujbagh Police Station. Victim's familly alleged that the plain-clothed men identified themselves as the members 

of DB police to the nearby people. Enamul's younger brother Naim Islam said that his brother Enamul was the managing 

director of a security service company. He informed the matter to the Sabujbagh Police Station. However, the OC of the 

police station said he did not know about the arrest of Enamul. Later, Naim Islam contacted detective branch's office at Minto 

Road, Dhaka and they told him that no one named Enamul was brought to the detective branch's office. DB Police will 

contact the family if someone is brought.

1 14/11/2018

The daily Ittefaq, 

18/11/2018, 

http://www.ittefaq.com.bd/pri

nt-edition/city/2705



129
Mohammad Rabiul 

Awal Shohag
Online activist

Dhulipara, 

Choumuhuni, 

2nd Muradpur, 

Kotowali, 

Comilla

1

On 26 November 2018, an online activist Mohammad Rabiul Awal Shohagh (25) was allegedly picked up by some men 

claiming to be members of the Detective Branch (DB) of police from his house at Dhulipara under Choumuhomi Upazila in 

Comilla district. Since then his whereabouts remain unknown. His wife Khadiza Akhtar said at a press conference on 6 

December, that at around 11:00 pm on 26 November, members of the law enforcement agency came to their house with her 

husband. Later some men identifying them as DB Police entered the house and took away a laptop, computer and other 

important items with her husband. After the incident the family of Rabiul filed a General Diary with Comilla Sadar (South) 

Police Station. The family contacted Comilla Police Station, RAB Headquarters and the DB Police office in Dhaka. They all 

denied the arrest of her husband. 

1 26/11/2018

Jugantor, 6/12/2018, 

https://www.jugantor.com/nat

ional/119274; Press 

conference 6/12/2018; 

Khadija Akter, Cell- 

01759063758

130 Mollah Ruhul Amin Accused in a case

House no. 6, 

Road no. 9, 

Gas Road, Zia 

Soroni,  Shonir 

Akhra, Dhaka

1

In the afternoon of 28 November 2018, a group of people identified themselves as DB police picked up Ruhul Amin from the 

house number 6, Road number 9 of Gas Road, Zia Sarani on Shonir Akhra.Mollah Ruhul Amin's wife, Raonak Jahan, in a 

written complaint, said that after taking her husband by DB police, she went to theKadamtali police station to file a GD. But 

the duty officer of the police station did not accept the GD and asked her to contact the DB office. But they denied the arrest 

of her husband when contacted.Raonak Jahan said, at around 10pm on that night, Ruhul Amin called her mobile phone and 

said that he was kept in the DB office and he was arrested in a case filed with Sabujbagh Police Station. Numbered - 46, 

date 26-11-18. Besides, her husband said, try to please the DB officer SI Saiful and his boss Kaiser. So that he will not taken 

to remand. Since then, Raonak did not contact her husband's the mobile phone. 

Raonak Jahan also said that she went to the Sabujbagh Police Station after talking with her husband over mobile phone and 

collected the case documents. But in the last four days her husband was not produced before the court. So that, she and her 

family became very worried. 

1 28/11/2018

The daily Nayadiganta, 

3/12/2018, 

http://m.dailynayadiganta.co

m/detail/news/369317 

131 Mahmudul Hasan
Master's Student 

of Dhaka College
1

Police arrested Mahmudul Hassan, a master's student of Dhaka College and Abdul Kadir Jilani, a master's student at Titumir 

College from in front of Mouchak Market in the capital on 27 December 2018, with their motorcycle. After the arrest, their 

relatives met with members of law enforcement agencies. But no one is giving any whereabouts of them. Mahmudul's mother 

said that her son was arrested without any reason. After the arrest, they contacted law enforcement agencies repeatedly  but 

they are not giving any whereabouts of her son. Abdul Kadir Jilani's mother said that my son was not involved in any 

wrongdoing. But Police arrested him without any reason. But after being arrested, they are in deep trouble and anxiety. If the 

law enforcers do such illegal acts then where will the ordinary people go?

1

132 Abdul Kadir Jilani
Master's Student 

of Titumir College
1

Police arrested Mahmudul Hassan, a master's student of Dhaka College and Abdul Kadir Jilani, a master's student at Titumir 

College from in front of Mouchak Market in the capital on 27 December 2018, with their motorcycle. After the arrest, their 

relatives met with members of law enforcement agencies. But no one is giving any whereabouts of them. Mahmudul's mother 

said that her son was arrested without any reason. After the arrest, they contacted law enforcement agencies repeatedly  but 

they are not giving any whereabouts of her son. Abdul Kadir Jilani's mother said that my son was not involved in any 

wrongdoing. But Police arrested him without any reason. But after being arrested, they are in deep trouble and anxiety. If the 

law enforcers do such illegal acts then where will the ordinary people go?

1

133
Muhammad 

Shahbuddin 

Tax lawyer of 

Shahid Uddin 

Khan

Dhaka 1

Law enforcement personnel, detain Johirul Haque Khandaker on January 13, 2019 along with two other colleagues, Korshed 

Alam Patwari, and Sayed Akidul Ali in Dhaka, all were employed by Shahid Uddin Khan, a retired Bangladesh colonel. 

Shahid Uddin Khan, has accused his former business associate, Major General Tarique Ahmed Siddique, Prime Minister 

Sheikh Hasina's security adviser, of ordering the detentions as part of a campaign of intimidation against him. However, 

Shahid Uddin Khan's relationship with Siddique soured when he was instructed by the prime minister's adviser to close down 

the company. According to Khan, on April 4, 2018, the day after the company was shut, Siddique began to exert pressure on 

him. Military officers from the DGfFI, the army's intelligence wing, raided Khan's office and took dozens of boxes of the 

company's documents to Siddique's house. Four staffs were allegedly driven to DGFI headquarters where they were held, 

blindfolded, and interrogated about Khan's financial affairs. They were all released after 48 hours. Six weeks later, Khan's tax 

lawyer Muhammad Shahbuddin was picked up by government authorities. "Two persons came out from a car and forcefully 

took our father away from us and forced him inside the SUV," the lawyer's son wrote in a complaint to the police.

1 5/1/2018

22/11/2019 Al Jazeera; 

https://www.aljazeera.com/n

ews/2019/11/employee-uk-

based-bangladeshi-

businessman-dies-custody-

191122110819149.html

134 Gazi Milon

President of 

youth wing of 

Awami League of 

5no ward of 

Chorchandia 

Union of 

Sonagazi Upazila

In front of a 

Pharmacy of 

Jahangir 

doctor, 

Chorchandiya 

union, 

Sonagazi 

upazila, Feni

1

On 5 May 2019 Gazi Milon was allegedly picked up by several plainclothes men who introduced themselves as members of 

RAB. They picked up him in front of a pharmacy at Chorchandiya union, Sonagazi upazila, Feni.They took him in a black 

coloured microbus and headed west from the local Olama Jabar area. Later family members of Gazi Milon went to Sonagazi 

Model Police Station and RAB camp of Feni district but they were informed that Gazi Milon was not in the custody of Police 

or RAB. They filed a General Diary with the Sonagazi Police Station. They also filed an application to RAB to know the 

whereabouts of Gazi Milon. At first they mentioned a RAB informer called 'Sentu Mia' in their application but RAB members 

refused to accept the application. Later they remove the name of Sentu Mia and then RAB accept the application. Gazi 

Milon's whereabouts remain unknown.

1 5/5/2019

The daily Manabzamin 

8/7/2019, 

http://mzamin.com/article.php

?mzamin=180227&cat=10

Mouchak 

Market, Dhaka
27/12/18

The daily Nayadiganta, 

28/12/2018; 

www.dailynayadiganta.com/c

ity/375939



135
Ismail Hossain 

Baten aged 60

Wood Trader at 

Dada Sawmill

Shah Ali 

Mazar, Mazar 

road, Gabtoli, 

Dhaka

1

On 19 June 2019 at around 2:30pm, Ismail Hossain Baten was returning home for lunch from his workplace ‗Dada Sawmill‘ 

at Shah Ali Mazar, Mazar road, Gabtoli, Dhaka. Within half an hour, his mobile phone was found switched off. On that night 

at around 11:00pm, Ismail‘s younger brother Mohammad Khairul Alam went to Shah Ali Police Station to file a General Diary 

(GD). However, the duty officer refused to file the GD at night and told him to come on the next day at 10:00am. When 

Khairul went to the police station again, the officer said that he could not file GD without investigation. Later, police 

investigate the incident and filed a GD, numbered 830, date- 20 June 2019. The police of Shah Ali Police Station collected 

the video footage of the CCTVs of different shops along the road, through which Ismail Hossain was returning to his house. 

But all the footage was found blank approximately between 2:00pm to 4:00pm. Ismail‘s wife Nasrin Jahan Smriti alleged that 

Rasel Ahammad Kabir, Director, Communication and Signal, RAB was involved in the disappearance of her husband due to 

a previous enmity between Rasel‘s father Fayez Ahammed Mintu and Ismail Hossain. Smriti informed that 35 years ago her 

husband was an accused in the murder of  former Jagodal (the political party before BNP) leader Fayez Ahammed Mintu. 

However, the court found him innocent and he was aquitted,  though sons of Fayez Ahammed thought that Ismail was guilty. 

Ismail Hossain was also attacked on 19 March 2015 and was severely injured by some people associated with the sons of 

Fayez Ahammed at his village home. Since then, Ismail Hossain  has been permanently staying in Dhaka with his family. 

Smriti also said that 4-5 days before her husband‘s disappearance, he was very worried because he got information from his 

village Kukrarai at Bajitpur of Kishoreganj district, that sons of Fayez Ahammed were telling people to take revenge for their 

father‘s murder as one of his son's,  Rasel Ahammad Kabir had become the Director, Communication and Signal of RAB. 

Ismail Hossain wanted to file a GD regarding the matter but could not. Nasrin Jahan Smriti also said that she believed the 

disappearance  of Ismail Hossain was pre-planned and was not possible without the help of administration.

1 19/06/2019

Nasrin Jahan Smriti , wife of 

Ismail, cell no- 

01915783100, Jugantor 

21/07/2018 

https://www.jugantor.com/tod

ays-paper/city/201611/

136
Bidhan Majumder, 

35, and Sagar

Brother-in-law of 

Biplob Chandra 

Baddya Shuvo, 

whose Facebook 

account had 

allegedly been 

hacked and 

Bidhan's 

employee

Bidhan's 

jewellery shop 

in Dolarhat, 

Bhola

2

Some unknown persons, introducing themselves as detectives, picked up the brother-in-law of Biplob Chandra Baddya, 

whose Facebook account was allegedly hacked and used for spreading the hate speech resulting in a deadly clash in Bhola, 

family claimed. Bidhan‘s father, Binoy Majumder filed a General Diary with Dolarhat Police Station. As per the general diary, 

Bidhan and his employee Sagar were picked up by unidentified men who came in a microbus, reportedly asking them to 

appear for an interview on a private TV channel. However, both have been missing since then. According to the father, a 

team went to the jewelry shop around 7:00pm on 21 October and picked up Bidhan and Sagar, another employee of the 

shop, and left the scene by a car. When they were getting into the car, locals asked them about their identity and they said 

they are DB police, the father said quoting locals. Contacted, Md Mizanur Rahman Rahman, officer-in-charge of Dolarhat 

Police Station, said he do not have any idea whether any DB team went there and picked up Bidhan.

2 21/10/2019 22/10/2019

The Daily Star; 

https://www.thedailystar.net/c

ountry/bhola-mayhem-biplob-

baddy-shuvo-brother-in-law-

picked-1817227 and The 

Independent; 

http://www.theindependentbd

.com/post/220670

137
Rafiqul Islam 

Chowdhury

Deputy Relief 

and Social 

Welfare 

Secretary of Jubo 

League

Banasree, 

Dhaka
1

It is alleged that Rafiqul Islam Chowdhury, the Deputy Relief and Social Welfare Secretary of Awami Jubo League, picked up 

from his Banasri residence by plainclothes men who has been identified themself as administration men.  His family said that 

he was picked up at around 7:30 pm on 21 November. Rafiq's wife Khadija Khatun said she was at home at the time of the 

incident. She said that five people came to their 5-storey flat and identified themselves as administration men. They talk to 

her husband Rafiq and take himout for tea. During that time she resist them. They told that if she resist them, it will hurt her 

husband. We are taking him, he will come later. They were forcibly taken from his home. A white microbus parked in front of 

the outside of the house is taken away. Since then his mobile phone has been shut down. They did not know Rafiq's 

whereabouts.

1 21/11/2019

22/11/2019 Nayadiganta; 

http://www.dailynayadiganta.

com/more-news/458217/

138 Mohammad Ali

Former army 

captain, 

Khandaker's two 

colleagues and 

Shahid Uddin 

Khan's two 

brothers

Dhaka 1

20 law enforcement personnel, many armed and wearing the black uniform commonly worn by a paramilitary organisation, 

the RAB, detain Johirul Haque Khandaker on January 13, 2019 along with two other colleagues, Korshed Alam Patwari, and 

Sayed Akidul Ali in Dhaka, all were employed by Shahid Uddin Khan, a retired Bangladesh colonel. Shahid Uddin Khan, has 

accused his former business associate, Major General Tarique Ahmed Siddique, Prime Minister Sheikh Hasina's security 

adviser, of ordering the detentions as part of a campaign of intimidation against him. On September 23, 2019 police brought 

them in front of a magistrate court after eight months disappearance, where they were accused of involvement "in anti-state 

and terrorist activities" and remanded into custody. Johirul Haque Khandaker, died in the prison annex of Bangabandhu 

Sheikh Mujib Medical University Hospital, Dhaka, on October 11, 2019. His death certificate stated that he died from a 

"cardio-pulmonary failure" due to "cirrhosis of the liver". An inquest report, written by a police officer, stated that there were 

"various black marks on his stomach". Al Jazeera spoke to witnesses who confirmed that in April 2019, two of Shahid Uddin 

Khan's brothers, Gias Uddin and Mohammad Ali, were picked up by the law enforcement authorities. While Uddin was 

released after 11 days of secret detention, Ali's whereabouts remain unknown.

1

13/1/2019 

and month 

of April, 

2019

23/9/2019; 

11/10/2019; 

22/11/2019 Al Jazeera; 

https://www.aljazeera.com/n

ews/2019/11/employee-uk-

based-bangladeshi-

businessman-dies-custody-

191122110819149.html



139 Abdullah Ibn Yusuf

Student of 

Mohammadpur 

Central College

From his 

residence at 

Mohammadpur 

Katasur

1

Family claims that members of law enforcement agencies have kidnapped Abdullah. Abdullah's elder brother Abdur Rahman 

saida group of men in plain clothes came to their residence on 22/07/2020 and idenitfied themselves as members of the 

administration or law enforcement agency. They showed abdullah 2 photos out of one was likely to be known by Abdullah. 

After a few moments of this, they took Abdullah with them. Abdullah did not have a laptop or computer but he did have a cell 

phone which they confiscated. The group of men were 8-10 in total and came in a white microbus. Abdur Rahman went to 

look for his brother to police stations, Detective Branch of Police and RAB but all of them failed to provide any information. 

But a group of policemen came near Abdullah's house a few days later to collect CCTV footage but later confirmed that the 

cameras were broken. Supreintendent Pradip Kumar investigated the diary but failed to get any information.

1 22/07/2020

21/09/2020 ProthomAlo; 

https://www.prothomalo.com/

bangladesh/capital/প্রশাসয়নি

-নোক-঩রিচয়ে-রনয়ে-র্াওো-

আবদুল্লাহ-দুই-মাস-ধয়ি-

রনয় া োঁজ

140 Saiful Islam Businessman
Daudkandi, 

Kumilla
1

Victim was having a chat with a person at noon near the Gouripur Busstand. At one point a black microbus came, handcuffed 

him and took him away on gunpoint. His phone was switched off after this incident. He could not be found anywhere such as 

DB Police, RAB, Police headquarters. Victims elder brother Johirul filed a general Diary at the local police station. Victim os 

the son of local Abu Siddik Miya.

1 24/09/2020

 Desh Rupantor, 

25/09/2020; 

https://www.deshrupantor.co

m/mofossol/2020/09/25/2478

65 ; Wife ( Shimla) 

01929008997

141 Baki Billah (37)

Employee of a 

Broadband 

Connection, 

Meritoriius 

Student

Turag, Uttara, 

Dhaka
1

Baki was picked up by people identifying themselves as DB, from downstairs of their rented residence. Police denied that 

allegation. Baki has a wife and 3 children. He studied in Notre Dame and then to Rajshahi Medical College. Because of not 

being able to have the money to continue his education, he left studies and started working in online. DB has also denied this 

allegation. Even the police station took 5 days to register a GD. Baki was taking his son to the Madrasa when 2 unknown 

men came up to them and asked the son to go back and immediately pushed Baki and took him inside a silver sedan where 

8-10 people were inside the car. Night guard of the house informed about this incident to the family.

1 12.11.2020

12.12.2020 Jugantor 

(Online); 

https://www.jugantor.com/co

untry-news/373521/রিরব

142

Mohammad 

Noman,  

Mohammad Nasim, 

Shahidul Islam

Businessman, 

Madrasa Student, 

Imam of Masjid

Araihajar, 

Narayanganj
3

Noman's father in a press conference said that, Noman used to do business tradings in Banti Bazar at Araihajar. On 2 June 

Noman as usual went to the shop on  his motorcycle from his residence. On 10.53am 7-8 people identifying themselves as 

Detective Branch of Police stopped his motorcycle. At that point they also picked up Nasim and Shahidul who were also 

around the area. Noman's father along with the other members of family of the other persons picked up went to Police Super 

Headquarters. All law enforcement agencies denied this allegation. 

3 02.06.2021
Prothom Alo (Online), 

27.06.2021

143
Rizwan Hasan 

Rakin, 22

Bangladeshi 

student of 

Egypt's Al-Azhar 

University 

Dhaka 1

Rizwan Hasan Rakin, 22, landed at the airport at 8:30am and informed his father-in-law about his safe arrival over the phone, 

his family members said.But when he was carrying out immigration formalities, some people took him to a corner and 

interrogated him for a long time before shoving him into a microbus.Rakin's father Abu Zafor, a Saudi expatriate, suspects his 

son may be a victim to "enforced disappearance".Rakin's brother-in-law Mahfuzur Rahman, also a student of Al-Azhar 

University, travelled back home with Rakin. At one stage, they took Rakin and Mahfuzur out of the airport blindfolded in a 

microbus, said a relative of Mahfuzur.

1 8/4/2021

The Daily Star, 8/9/21; 

https://www.thedailystar.net/

news/bangladesh/crime-

justice/news/student-taken-

arrival-hisa-

2170851?ref=netra.news

144 Rahmatullah
Apprentice of an 

Electrician

Boronolai 

village of 

Gangutia union 

of Dhamrai 

Dhaka

1

25- 30 people some with the RAB uniform picked him up on 29 August 2023 by a Hais car. Since his whearabouts is 

unknown.According to peothom alo the news published on 04 October 2023 that Rahmatullah has been  missing last 36 

days. When  she goes to police station to get the copy of GD police doesn't give her but RAB wants GD copy. 

1 29.08. 2023

Prothom Alo, 14.09.23 ; 

Prothom Alo, 04.10.23 ; Cell 

number of Rahmatullah's 

mother  Mst Momtaz Begum 
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